Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: June 11, 2014 REVISED: August 5, 2014 ACCEPTED: August 31, 2014 PUBLISHED: September 17, 2014

Low-mass fermiophobic charged Higgs phenomenology in two-Higgs-doublet models

Victor Ilisie and Antonio Pich

IFIC, Universitat de València – CSIC, Apt. Correus 22085, E-46071 València, Spain

E-mail: ilisiev@ific.uv.es, pich@ific.uv.es

ABSTRACT: After the recent discovery of a Higgs-like boson, the possibility of an enlarged scalar sector arises as a natural question. Experimental searches for charged scalars have been already performed with negative results. We analyze the phenomenology associated with a fermiophobic charged Higgs (it does not couple to fermions at tree level), in two-Higgs-doublet models. All present experimental bounds are evaded trivially in this case, and one needs to consider other decay and production channels. We study the associated production of a charged Higgs with either a W or a neutral scalar boson, and the relevant decays for a light fermiophobic charged Higgs. The interesting features of this scenario should result encouraging for the LHC collaborations to perform searches for such a particle.

KEYWORDS: Higgs Physics, Beyond Standard Model

ARXIV EPRINT: 1405.6639



Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	The aligned two-Higgs-doublet model	3
3	Decay and production modes	5
	3.1 $\mathbf{H}^+ \to \mathbf{W}^+ \gamma$	5
	3.2 $\mathbf{H}^+ \to \mathbf{W}^+ \varphi_{\mathbf{i}}^{0}$	7
	3.3 Charged-Higgs production	8
4	Phenomenology	10
	4.1 Decay rates and branching ratios	10
	4.1.1 First scenario	11
	4.1.2 Second scenario	12
	4.1.3 Third scenario	13
	4.1.4 Fourth scenario	14
	4.2 Production cross sections	16
	4.2.1 $H^+ \varphi_i^0$ associated production	17
	4.2.2 H^+W^- associated production	18
5	Conclusions	21
\mathbf{A}	Scalar potential	22
	A.1 Inert 2HDM	24
в	Heavy neutral Higgs decay rates	24
С	QCD corrections to $\mathrm{pp} \to \mathrm{H}^+ arphi_\mathrm{i}^0$	25
D	QCD corrections to $pp \rightarrow H^+W^-$	26

1 Introduction

The recent discovery of a boson with mass around 125 GeV by the ATLAS [1–4], CMS [5–7], DØ and CDF [8, 9] collaborations is the first direct hint of the electroweak symmetrybreaking mechanism. The experimental data confirm that it is a Higgs-like scalar with couplings compatible with the Standard Model (SM) predictions. However, this new particle could belong to an enlarged scalar sector.

In order to give mass to fermions and gauge bosons while preserving gauge invariance, the SM assumes the presence of one SU(2) electroweak scalar doublet with a non-zero vacuum expectation value. However, no fundamental principle or symmetry forbids the presence of additional scalar doublets. The simplest extension of the SM is the two-Higgsdoublet model (2HDM) [10, 11], which leads to a richer scalar sector and very interesting phenomenological implications [12–44]. Generic multi-Higgs doublet models give rise to unwanted flavour-changing neutral current (FCNC) interactions, which are found to be very suppressed experimentally. The FCNCs can be eliminated at tree level by requiring the alignment in flavour space of the Yukawa matrices [15]. The so-called aligned two-Higgsdoublet model (A2HDM) contains as particular cases the different versions of 2HDMs with discrete Z_2 symmetries while at the same time introduces new sources of CP violation beyond the CKM phase.

The main feature of the 2HDM is the presence of three neutral and one charged Higgs bosons. Finding extra neutral or charged scalar bosons would be a clear signal of an extended scalar sector. The ATLAS [45–47] and CMS collaborations [48] have performed direct searches for a charged Higgs particle. However, since no excess has been found over the SM background, this only allows us to further constrain the parameter space of the various types of 2HDMs; recent analyses within the A2HDM have been performed in [12-14]. In their searches, both collaborations assume that the charged Higgs is produced in a top-quark decay $(t \to H^+ b)$ and that it decays dominantly into fermions; i.e., $H^+ \to q_\mu \bar{q}_d, \ l^+ \nu_l$. However, all experimental bounds would be trivially evaded for a fermiophobic charged Higgs, i.e., a charged scalar which does not couple to fermions at tree level. In order to probe such scenario, other production channels and decay rates would have to be considered. Although such analyses have not been yet performed by the LHC collaborations, they become more compelling as the experimental bounds on a non-fermiophobic charged Higgs are getting stronger, at least in the low mass region. The fermiophobic scenario is a simplified model that, if it turns out to be the one preferred by Nature, would allow us to measure (or at least estimate) for the first time the parameters of the scalar potential. This is usually a rather difficult task in more generic 2HDM settings. It is also worth mentioning that a fermiophobic charged Higgs is present in the *inert* 2HDM [49, 50]. where one of the neutral scalars is a nice candidate for dark matter [32-35, 37, 51-59]. The discovery of a fermiophobic H^{\pm} particle could be interpreted in this case as an indirect signal of the presence of dark matter.

In this work, we shall focus our analysis on the search of a light fermiophobic charged Higgs H^{\pm} , with mass in the range $M_{H^{\pm}} \in [M_W, M_W + M_Z]$ so that only a few relevant decay modes are kinematically open. We will study the two most important production channels for a fermiophobic H^{\pm} : associated production with either a W^{\mp} boson or a neutral scalar. Due to their similarity with the SM Higgs production channels, one expects them to be experimentally accessible at LHC energies. Next-to-leading order (NLO) QCD corrections will be included for both cross sections, and the bounds on the various parameters of the model from the current LHC data [12] will also be taken into account. The main features of the A2HDM are briefly presented in section 2. Section 3 discusses the calculation of the various decay rates and production modes. Finally, in section 4 we perform a phenomenological analysis, assuming different scenarios for the scalar spectrum, and conclude in section 5 with a summary of our results. Some technical details are given in four appendices.

2 The aligned two-Higgs-doublet model

The 2HDM extends the SM with a second scalar doublet of hypercharge $Y = \frac{1}{2}$. The neutral components of the two scalar doublets acquire vacuum expectation values that are in general complex, $\langle 0|\phi_a^{(0)}(x)|0\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}v_a e^{i\theta_a}$ (a = 1, 2), although only the relative phase $\theta \equiv \theta_2 - \theta_1$ is observable. It is convenient to perform a global SU(2) transformation in the scalar space (ϕ_1, ϕ_2) , characterized by the angle $\beta = \arctan(v_2/v_1)$, and work in the so-called Higgs basis (Φ_1, Φ_2) , where only one doublet acquires a vacuum expectation value:

$$\Phi_1 = \begin{bmatrix} G^+ \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (v + S_1 + iG^0) \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \Phi_2 = \begin{bmatrix} H^+ \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (S_2 + iS_3) \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (2.1)$$

where G^{\pm} and G^0 denote the Goldstone fields. Thus, Φ_1 plays the role of the SM scalar doublet with $v \equiv \sqrt{v_1^2 + v_2^2} \simeq (\sqrt{2} G_F)^{-1/2} = 246$ GeV.

The physical scalar spectrum contains five degrees of freedom: the two charged fields $H^{\pm}(x)$ and three neutral scalars $\varphi_i^0(x) = \{h(x), H(x), A(x)\}$, which are related with the S_i fields through an orthogonal transformation $\varphi_i^0(x) = \mathcal{R}_{ij}S_j(x)$. The form of the \mathcal{R} matrix is fixed by the scalar potential [14], which determines the neutral scalar mass matrix and the corresponding mass eigenstates. A detailed discussion is given in appendix A. In general, the CP-odd component S_3 mixes with the CP-even fields $S_{1,2}$ and the resulting mass eigenstates do not have a definite CP quantum number. If the scalar potential is CP symmetric this admixture disappears; in this particular case, $A(x) = S_3(x)$ and

$$\begin{pmatrix} h \\ H \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos \tilde{\alpha} & \sin \tilde{\alpha} \\ -\sin \tilde{\alpha} & \cos \tilde{\alpha} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} S_1 \\ S_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.2)

Performing a phase redefinition of the neutral CP-even fields, we can fix the sign of $\sin \tilde{\alpha}$. In this work we adopt the conventions $M_h \leq M_H$ and $0 \leq \tilde{\alpha} \leq \pi$, so that $\sin \tilde{\alpha}$ is positive.

The most generic Yukawa Lagrangian with the SM fermionic content gives rise to FCNCs because the fermionic couplings of the two scalar doublets cannot be simultaneously diagonalized in flavour space. The non-diagonal neutral couplings can be eliminated by requiring the alignment in flavour space of the Yukawa matrices [15]; i.e., the two Yukawa matrices coupling to a given type of right-handed fermions are assumed to be proportional to each other and can, therefore, be diagonalized simultaneously. The three proportionality parameters ς_f (f = u, d, l) are arbitrary complex numbers and introduce new sources of CP violation. In terms of the fermion mass-eigenstate fields, the Yukawa interactions of the A2HDM read [15]

$$\mathcal{L}_{Y} = -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{v} H^{+} \left\{ \bar{u} \left[\varsigma_{d} V M_{d} \mathcal{P}_{R} - \varsigma_{u} M_{u}^{\dagger} V \mathcal{P}_{L} \right] d + \varsigma_{l} \bar{\nu} M_{l} \mathcal{P}_{R} l \right\} - \frac{1}{v} \sum_{\varphi_{i}^{0}, f} y_{f}^{\varphi_{i}^{0}} \varphi_{i}^{0} \left[\bar{f} M_{f} \mathcal{P}_{R} f \right] + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (2.3)$$

where $\mathcal{P}_{R,L} \equiv \frac{1 \pm \gamma_5}{2}$ are the right-handed and left-handed chirality projectors, M_f the diagonal fermion mass matrices and the couplings of the neutral scalar fields are given by:

$$y_{d,l}^{\varphi_i^0} = \mathcal{R}_{i1} + (\mathcal{R}_{i2} + i \,\mathcal{R}_{i3}) \,\varsigma_{d,l} \,, \qquad \qquad y_u^{\varphi_i^0} = \mathcal{R}_{i1} + (\mathcal{R}_{i2} - i \,\mathcal{R}_{i3}) \,\varsigma_u^* \,. \tag{2.4}$$

As in the SM, all scalar-fermion couplings are proportional to the corresponding fermion masses, and the only source of flavour-changing interactions is the Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa (CKM) quark mixing matrix V [60, 61]. The usual models with natural flavour conservation, based on discrete Z_2 symmetries, are recovered for particular (real) values of the couplings ς_f [15].

The full set of interactions among the gauge and scalar bosons is given in [14]. The coupling of a single neutral scalar with a pair of gauge bosons takes the form (V = W, Z)

$$g_{\varphi_i^0 VV} = \mathcal{R}_{i1} g_{hVV}^{\rm SM} \,, \tag{2.5}$$

which implies $g_{hVV}^2 + g_{HVV}^2 + g_{AVV}^2 = (g_{hVV}^{SM})^2$. Thus, the strength of the SM Higgs interaction is shared by the three 2HDM neutral bosons. In the CP-conserving limit, the CP-odd field decouples while the strength of the *h* and *H* interactions is governed by the corresponding $\cos \tilde{\alpha}$ and $\sin \tilde{\alpha}$ factors.

In the following analysis we are also going to need the coupling of a neutral scalar with a pair of charged Higgses. We have parametrized the corresponding interaction as:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\varphi^0 H^+ H^-} = -v \sum_{\varphi_i^0} \lambda_{\varphi_i^0 H^+ H^-} \varphi_i^0 H^+ H^-.$$
(2.6)

Explicit expressions for the reduced cubic couplings $\lambda_{\varphi_i^0 H^+ H^-}$, in terms of the generic Higgs potential parameters, can be found in [14].

The phenomenological constraints on the A2HDM parameters have been studied in detail in refs. [12–21]. For a light H^{\pm} , loop-induced processes dominated by top contributions (ε_K , $Z \to b\bar{b}$, $B^0-\bar{B}^0$ mixing) impose a tight (95% CL) upper bound on the up-type alignment parameter: $|\varsigma_u| < 0.77$ (1.7), for $M_{H^{\pm}} = 80$ (500) GeV. Owing to the much smaller fermion masses, the constraints on the down-type (and lepton) parameter are very weak; one imposes instead $|\varsigma_d| \leq 50$ to guarantee a perturbative Yukawa coupling. In the popular type-II 2HDM ($\varsigma_u = -1/\varsigma_d = -1/\varsigma_l = \cot \beta$), the decay $\bar{B} \to X_s \gamma$ excludes charged Higgs masses below 380 GeV [62] at 95% CL, because the SM and charged-Higgs contributions interfere constructively. This is no longer true in the more general A2HDM framework, where one only gets a combined correlated constraint on $M_{H^{\pm}}$, ς_u and ς_d , which allows much lighter values of the charged-scalar mass in a restricted region of the parameter space $\varsigma_u - \varsigma_d$ [16–18].

The symmetries of the A2HDM protect in a very efficient way the flavour-blind phases of the alignment parameters from undesirable phenomenological consequences. The experimental upper bounds on fermion electric dipole moments provide the strongest constraints on $\text{Im}(\varsigma_f)$, but $\mathcal{O}(1)$ contributions remain allowed at present [20]. For simplicity, in section 4, we will restrict our analysis to the CP-conserving limit and, therefore, will consider real alignment parameters.

The LHC data require the gauge coupling of the 125 GeV boson to have a magnitude close to the SM one. Assuming that it corresponds to the lightest CP-even scalar h of the CP-conserving A2HDM, the measured Higgs signal strengths imply $|\cos \tilde{\alpha}| > 0.90$ (0.80) at 68% (90%) CL [12–14]. Direct searches for a heavier neutral scalar (H) provide upper bounds on $|\sin \tilde{\alpha}|$ as a function of M_H , which at present result in a weaker constraint on the mixing angle [12].

In the following we will explore the intriguing possibility that the charged scalar could be fermiophobic, i.e., that its tree-level couplings to fermions vanish ($\varsigma_{u,d,l} = 0$). All current experimental bounds are then trivially avoided, in particular the flavour constraints [16]. The Yukawa couplings of the h(125) boson scale in this case, with respect to the SM ones, with the same factor as the gauge couplings: $y_f^h = \mathcal{R}_{11} = \cos \tilde{\alpha}$. The global fit to the Higgs signal strengths results in the slightly improved bound $|\cos \tilde{\alpha}| > 0.86$ at 90% CL [12].

In the fermiophobic (and CP-conserving) limit, the CP-odd scalar A has also vanishing Yukawa couplings. Therefore, it only couples via multi-Higgs interactions with an even number of A bosons, or through its gauge couplings $(AW^{\pm}H^{\mp}, AZh, AZH, A^2Z^2, A^2W^+W^-, AH^{\pm}W^{\mp}\gamma, AH^{\pm}W^{\mp}Z)$. Thus, a light A boson might be very long-lived. While this could have cosmological implications, it is not in conflict with the relic-density constraints [32, 33, 51–59].

A more specific version of the fermiophobic scenario is provided by the *inert* 2HDM [49, 50], which assumes a discrete Z_2 symmetry in the Higgs basis such that all SM fields and Φ_1 are even $(\Phi_1 \rightarrow \Phi_1)$ under this symmetry while the second (inert) scalar doublet is odd $(\Phi_2 \rightarrow -\Phi_2)$. In this restricted case, there is no mixing between the CP-even neutral scalars h and H; i.e., $\cos \tilde{\alpha} = 1$. The spectrum of the *inert* 2HDM is described in appendix A.1.

3 Decay and production modes

We are going to analyse the possibility of having a fermiophobic charged Higgs with a mass in the restricted interval $M_{H^{\pm}} \in [M_W, M_W + M_Z]$. In this region, the only relevant decay rates are $H^+ \to W^+ \gamma$ and $H^+ \to W^+ \varphi_i^0$. We are mainly interested in the one-loop suppressed decay $H^+ \to W^+ \gamma$, the only two-body kinematically allowed decay mode, but we need to account also for the tree-level decay into a W^+ boson and a neutral scalar, which cannot be both on-shell simultaneously for the whole considered kinematical region. Thus, we shall consider three-body decays like $H^+ \to W^+ f \bar{f}$ mediated by the neutral scalars φ_i^0 and $H^+ \to \varphi_i^0 f_u \bar{f}_d$ mediated by a virtual W^+ , where $f_u \bar{f}_d$ stands for quark pairs $q_u \bar{q}_d$, or lepton-neutrino pairs $l^+\nu_l$. The loop-induced decay $H^+ \to f_u \bar{f}_d$ has a strong Yukawa suppression m_f^2/v^2 and, therefore, it is irrelevant for this discussion. When surpassing the $M_W + M_Z$ threshold, the one-loop decay $H^+ \to W^+ Z$ would enter the game and we would also be close to the top-quark production threshold. The analysis of these two extra decay modes lays beyond the goal of this paper.

3.1 $\mathbf{H}^+ \to \mathbf{W}^+ \gamma$

The first process that we are going to analyse is $H^+(k+q) \to W^+(k) \gamma(q)$. Owing to the conservation of the electromagnetic current, the decay amplitude must adopt the form:

$$\mathcal{M} = \Gamma^{\mu\nu} \,\varepsilon^*_{\mu}(q) \,\varepsilon^*_{\nu}(k) \,, \qquad \Gamma^{\mu\nu} = (g^{\mu\nu}k \cdot q - k^{\mu}q^{\nu}) \,S \,+\, i \,\epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} \,k_{\alpha} \,q_{\beta} \,\tilde{S} \,, \qquad (3.1)$$

where S and \tilde{S} are scalar form factors. To obtain this expression, we have considered the most general Lorentz structure for the effective $\Gamma^{\mu\nu}$ vertex, and have imposed the electromagnetic current conservation condition $q_{\mu}\Gamma^{\mu\nu} = 0$. All terms proportional to q^{μ} and k^{ν} have been also eliminated, as they cancel when contracted with the polarization vectors of the photon and the W boson. Note that, accidentally, the Ward-like identity $k_{\nu}\Gamma^{\mu\nu} = 0$ also holds for (3.1).

In the unitary gauge, the decay proceeds at one loop through the three sets of diagrams shown in figure 1: fermionic loops (set 1), scalar loops (set 2) and loops with both gauge and scalar bosons (set 3). Each set is transverse by itself, i.e., of the form given in (3.1). We can then decompose the result into the three separate contributions: $S = S_{(1)} + S_{(2)} + S_{(3)}$ and $\tilde{S} = \tilde{S}_{(1)}$ (the only contribution to the structure $\epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} k_{\alpha} q_{\beta}$ comes from the fermionic loops). One can further simplify the calculation of $S_{(j)}$ by only considering the terms of the transverse set j that contribute to the structure $k^{\mu}q^{\nu}$. In order to calculate these contributions, one only needs to compute diagrams 1.a and 1.b for the first set, 2.a for the second set and 3.a for the third one. We obtain the following expressions for the form factors:

$$S_{(1)} = \frac{\alpha N_C |V_{tb}|^2}{2\pi v s_W} \int_0^1 dx \int_0^1 dy \ [Q_t x + Q_b (1-x)] \\ \times \frac{-\varsigma_u m_t^2 x (2xy - 2y + 1) + \varsigma_d m_b^2 (1-x)(1-2xy)}{M_W^2 x (x-1) + m_b^2 (1-x) + m_t^2 x + (M_W^2 - M_{H^{\pm}}^2) xy (1-x)},$$
(3.2)

$$S_{(2)} = \frac{\alpha v}{2\pi s_{W}} \sum_{i} \lambda_{\varphi_{i}^{0}H^{+}H^{-}} \left(\mathcal{R}_{i2} - i\mathcal{R}_{i3}\right) \int_{0}^{1} dx \int_{0}^{1} dy \\ \times \frac{x^{2}y \left(1 - x\right)}{M_{W}^{2} x \left(x - 1\right) + M_{\varphi_{i}^{0}}^{2} \left(1 - x\right) + M_{H^{\pm}}^{2} x + \left(M_{W}^{2} - M_{H^{\pm}}^{2}\right) xy \left(1 - x\right)}, \quad (3.3)$$

$$S_{(3)} = \frac{\alpha}{2\pi v s_{W}} \sum_{i} \mathcal{R}_{i1} (\mathcal{R}_{i2} - i\mathcal{R}_{i3}) \int_{0}^{1} dx \int_{0}^{1} dy \ x^{2} \\ \times \frac{2M_{W}^{2} + (M_{H^{\pm}}^{2} + M_{W}^{2} - M_{\varphi_{i}^{0}}^{2}) y (x - 1)}{M_{W}^{2} x^{2} + M_{\varphi_{i}^{0}}^{2} (1 - x) + (M_{W}^{2} - M_{H^{\pm}}^{2}) xy (1 - x)},$$

$$(3.4)$$

$$\tilde{S} = \frac{\alpha N_C |V_{tb}|^2}{2\pi v s_W} \int_0^1 dx \int_0^1 dy \ [Q_t x + Q_b (1-x)] \\ \times \frac{\varsigma_u m_t^2 x + \varsigma_d m_b^2 (1-x)}{M_W^2 x (x-1) + m_b^2 (1-x) + m_t^2 x + (M_W^2 - M_{H^{\pm}}^2) xy (1-x)},$$
(3.5)

with $s_{\rm W} \equiv \sin \theta_{\rm W}$. The calculation of $S_{(3)}$ has been also performed in the Feynman ($\xi = 1$) gauge, where additional diagrams with Goldstone bosons are present, verifying that these expressions are gauge independent. Our results are in agreement with the recent calculation of the $H^+W^-\gamma$ effective vertex in ref. [63]. This calculation was also done many years ago by several groups [64–67] using a somewhat different notation.



Figure 1. One-loop diagrams contributing to $H^+ \to W^+ \gamma$ in the unitary gauge.

The $H^+ \to W^+ \gamma$ decay width is easily found to be:

$$\Gamma(H^+ \to W^+ \gamma) = \frac{M_{H^{\pm}}^3}{32\pi} \left(1 - \frac{M_W^2}{M_{H^{\pm}}^2} \right)^3 \left(|S|^2 + |\tilde{S}|^2 \right) \,. \tag{3.6}$$

This one-loop decay rate is in general much smaller than the tree-level decay rates of a charged Higgs into fermions. However, it becomes relevant if the charged Higgs is fermiophobic ($\varsigma_f \rightarrow 0$). In this case, the first set of diagrams (which has only been presented for completeness) does not contribute.

3.2 $\mathbf{H}^+ \rightarrow \mathbf{W}^+ \varphi_{\mathbf{i}}^{\mathbf{0}}$

The H^+ decay rate to on-shell W^+ and φ^0_i bosons is given by

$$\Gamma(H^+ \to W^+ \varphi_i^0) = \frac{\alpha}{16 \, s_{\rm w}^2 \, M_{H^\pm}^3 \, M_W^2} \left(\mathcal{R}_{i2}^2 + \mathcal{R}_{i3}^2 \right) \lambda^{3/2} (M_{\varphi_i^0}^2, M_{H^\pm}^2, M_W^2) \,, \tag{3.7}$$

with the usual definition of the lambda function $\lambda(x, y, z) \equiv x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - 2xy - 2xz - 2yz$.

The corresponding three-body decay rate to $W^+ f \bar{f}$, with off-shell neutral scalars (figure 2, left), takes the form:

$$\Gamma(H^+ \to W^+ f \bar{f}) = \frac{\alpha^2 N_C^f m_f^2}{128 \pi s_W^4 M_{H^\pm}^3 M_W^4} \int_{4m_f^2}^{(M_H \pm -M_W)^2} ds_{23} \ \lambda^{3/2}(M_{H^\pm}^2, M_W^2, s_{23}) \\ \times \left(1 - \frac{4m_f^2}{s_{23}}\right)^{1/2} \sum_{i,j} \left(\mathcal{R}_{i2} - i\mathcal{R}_{i3}\right) \left(\mathcal{R}_{j2} + i\mathcal{R}_{j3}\right) \mathcal{M}_{ij} , \qquad (3.8)$$



Figure 2. $H^+ \to W^+ f \bar{f}$ process mediated by the virtual neutral scalars φ_i^0 (left) and $H^+ \to \varphi_i^0 f_u \bar{f}_d$ mediated by a virtual W^+ (right).

where N_C^f stands for the number of colours of the fermion f, 3 for quarks and 1 for leptons, s_{23} is the square of the fermion-antifermion invariant mass and

$$\mathcal{M}_{ij} \equiv \frac{(s_{23} - 2m_f^2) \operatorname{Re}(y_f^{\varphi_i^0} y_f^{\varphi_j^0*}) - 2m_f^2 \operatorname{Re}(y_f^{\varphi_i^0} y_f^{\varphi_j^0})}{(s_{23} - M_{\varphi_i^0}^2)(s_{23} - M_{\varphi_j^0}^2)} .$$
(3.9)

Obviously, the *b*-quark contribution will dominate because of the global factor m_f^2 . Therefore, we will neglect the other fermionic final states.

For the decay $H^+ \to \varphi_i^0 f_u \bar{f}_d$, with an of-shell W^+ (figure 2, right), we are going to consider all possible final states, quarks and leptons. We exclude the top quark, since this process is well below its production threshold. Neglecting the final fermion masses, the sum over all kinematically-allowed decay modes amounts to a global factor

$$\Omega = \left(3 + N_C \sum_{u_i = u, c} \sum_{d_j = d, s, b} |V_{u_i d_j}|^2\right) = 9, \qquad (3.10)$$

where the unitarity of the CKM matrix has been used. The total decay width can be expressed as an integral over the fermion-antifermion invariant-mass squared:

$$\Gamma\left(H^{+} \to \varphi_{i}^{0} \sum_{f_{u}, f_{d}} f_{u} \bar{f}_{d}\right) = \frac{\Omega}{9} \frac{3 \alpha^{2} \left(\mathcal{R}_{i2}^{2} + \mathcal{R}_{i3}^{2}\right)}{64 \pi s_{W}^{4} M_{H^{\pm}}^{3}} \int_{0}^{\left(M_{H^{\pm}} - M_{\varphi_{i}^{0}}\right)^{2}} ds_{23} \frac{\lambda^{3/2} \left(M_{H^{\pm}}^{2}, M_{\varphi_{i}^{0}}^{2}, s_{23}\right)}{(s_{23} - M_{W}^{2})^{2}}.$$

$$(3.11)$$

3.3 Charged-Higgs production

In order to see if the fermiophobic scenario can be experimentally probed, one needs an estimation of the production cross sections for different channels. Here we will consider two possibilities, the associated production with a neutral scalar and the associated production with a W boson (figure 3). The $q_u \bar{q}_d \rightarrow H^+ \varphi_i^0$ production process is by far the most interesting channel, as it requires the least number of new parameters. For initial-state massless quarks, the leading-order (LO) partonic cross section reads

$$\hat{\sigma}(q_u \bar{q}_d \to H^+ \varphi_i^0) = \frac{g^4 |V_{ud}|^2}{768 \pi N_c \,\hat{s}^2} \, \frac{(\mathcal{R}_{i2}^2 + \mathcal{R}_{i3}^2)}{(\hat{s} - M_W^2)^2} \,\lambda^{3/2}(\hat{s}, M_{H^\pm}^2, M_{\varphi_i^0}^2) \,, \tag{3.12}$$



Figure 3. LO contributions to the charged-Higgs associated production with a *W* boson (diagrams a, b) or a neutral scalar (diagram c), in the fermiophobic scenario.

where \hat{s} is the partonic invariant-mass squared. The NLO QCD corrections are available and can be expressed in a very simple form, as shown in appendix C.

The associated production with a W boson can proceed through either $q\bar{q}$ or gg fusion. The partonic LO cross section for the $q\bar{q}$ fusion process, is given by

$$\hat{\sigma}(q\bar{q} \to H^+W^-) = \frac{g^2}{128 \pi M_W^2 \hat{s}^2} \frac{m_q^2}{v^2} \frac{1}{N_c} \lambda^{3/2}(\hat{s}, M_{H^{\pm}}^2, M_W^2) \left(1 - \frac{4m_q^2}{\hat{s}}\right)^{-1/2} \times \sum_{i,j} \left(\mathcal{R}_{i2} + i\mathcal{R}_{i3}\right) \left(\mathcal{R}_{j2} - i\mathcal{R}_{j3}\right) \mathcal{N}_{ij}, \qquad (3.13)$$

with the reduced amplitudes

$$\mathcal{N}_{ij} \equiv \frac{(\hat{s} - 2m_q^2) \operatorname{Re}(y_q^{\varphi_i^0} y_q^{\varphi_j^0}) - 2m_q^2 \operatorname{Re}(y_q^{\varphi_i^0} y_q^{\varphi_j^0})}{(\hat{s} - M_{\varphi_i^0}^2 + iM_{\varphi_i^0} \Gamma_{\varphi_i^0}) (\hat{s} - M_{\varphi_j^0}^2 - iM_{\varphi_j^0} \Gamma_{\varphi_j^0})}.$$
(3.14)

We have kept the dependence on the initial quark masses, since otherwise the $q\bar{q}$ Yukawa coupling vanishes. This implies a strong suppression of this production mechanism by a factor m_q^2/v^2 .

The gluon fusion mechanism dominates by far the previous one. The corresponding LO cross section at the partonic level takes the form

$$\hat{\sigma}(gg \to H^+W^-) = \frac{\alpha_s^2 T_F^2}{4096 \pi^3 v^4} \lambda^{3/2}(\hat{s}, M_{H^\pm}^2, M_W^2) \\ \times \sum_{i,j} (\mathcal{R}_{i2} + i\mathcal{R}_{i3})(\mathcal{R}_{j2} - i\mathcal{R}_{j3}) \mathcal{G}_{ij} , \qquad (3.15)$$

where $T_F = 1/2$ is the SU(3) colour group factor and the reduced amplitudes \mathcal{G}_{ij} are given by

$$\mathcal{G}_{ij} \equiv \sum_{qq'} \frac{\operatorname{Re}(y_{q'}^{\varphi_{i}^{0}}) \operatorname{Re}(y_{q'}^{\varphi_{j}^{0}}) \mathcal{F}(x_{q}) \mathcal{F}(x_{q'})^{*} + \operatorname{Im}(y_{q'}^{\varphi_{i}^{0}}) \operatorname{Im}(y_{q'}^{\varphi_{j}^{0}}) \mathcal{K}(x_{q}) \mathcal{K}(x_{q'})^{*}}{(\hat{s} - M_{\varphi_{i}^{0}}^{2} + iM_{\varphi_{i}^{0}} \Gamma_{\varphi_{i}^{0}}) (\hat{s} - M_{\varphi_{j}^{0}}^{2} - iM_{\varphi_{j}^{0}} \Gamma_{\varphi_{j}^{0}})}, \quad (3.16)$$

with $x_q \equiv 4m_q^2/\hat{s}$. The explicit expressions of the different loop functions are:

$$\mathcal{F}(x) = \frac{x}{2} \left[4 + (x-1)f(x) \right], \qquad \qquad \mathcal{K}(x) = -\frac{x}{2} f(x), \qquad (3.17)$$

with

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} -4 \arcsin^2(1/\sqrt{x}), & x \ge 1\\ \left[\ln\left(\frac{1+\sqrt{1-x}}{1-\sqrt{1-x}}\right) - i\pi \right]^2, & x < 1 \end{cases}$$
(3.18)

We have regulated the propagator poles with the term $iM_{\varphi_i^0}\Gamma_{\varphi_i^0}$, both in eqs. (3.14) and (3.16), because in our analysis one of the neutral scalars will, most likely, reach the on-shell kinematical region. NLO QCD corrections to the gluon fusion channel are also available and will be taken into account; the details are given in appendix D.

4 Phenomenology

In the following phenomenological analysis, besides the fermiophobic charged-Higgs assumption ($\varsigma_f \to 0$), we are also going to consider that the Higgs potential is CP-conserving. The consequence of this last hypothesis is that the CP-odd neutral Higgs A will also be fermiophobic, as we have mentioned before in section 2; moreover $\lambda_{AH^+H^-} = 0$. This means that the decay $H^+ \to W^+A^* \to W^+\bar{f}f$ does not occur and A does not contribute either to $H^+ \to W^+\gamma$. The charged-Higgs production amplitudes mediated by a virtual Aalso vanish. The CP-odd scalar can contribute to H^{\pm} production in a direct way through the $q_u\bar{q}_d \to W^* \to H^+A$ production channel or, in an indirect way, by modifying the total decay rate $\Gamma_{\varphi_i^0}$, which regulates the pole in the CP-even scalar propagators ($\varphi_i^0 = h, H$), through decays like $\varphi_i^0 \to AA$ or $\varphi_i^0 \to AZ$. The decay $H \to Ah$ cannot occur at tree level because all cubic vertices of the scalar potential involving an odd number of A fields vanish in the CP-conserving limit. The total decay width $\Gamma_{\varphi_i^0}$ is the sum of all the decay rates explicitly presented in appendix B.

In our particular case, the expressions for the Yukawa couplings simplify and become equal to the reduced scalar couplings to two gauge bosons. They are given by

$$y_{f}^{h} = \frac{g_{hVV}}{g_{hVV}^{\text{SM}}} = \mathcal{R}_{11} = \cos \tilde{\alpha} , \quad y_{f}^{H} = \frac{g_{HVV}}{g_{hVV}^{\text{SM}}} = R_{21} = -\sin \tilde{\alpha} , \quad y_{f}^{A} = g_{AVV} = \mathcal{R}_{31} = 0 .$$
(4.1)

Even within the restricted range of charged-Higgs masses we are interested in, $M_{H^{\pm}} \in [M_W, M_W + M_Z]$, the possible phenomenological signals depend on the choice of masses for the remaining scalars. In the following subsections, we will therefore consider different scenarios for the scalar spectrum. The first part of the analysis will be dedicated to the study of the various decay modes of the charged Higgs and the second part will focus on estimating the production cross sections.

4.1 Decay rates and branching ratios

One of the two CP-even scalars should correspond to the Higgs boson discovered at the LHC, but a broad range of masses is allowed for the other two neutral scalars. We will consider the following four scenarios, which cover the different possibilities:

- 1. $M_h = 125 \,\text{GeV}$ and $M_{A,H} > M_W + M_Z$.
- 2. $M_h = 125 \,\text{GeV}$ and $M_A < M_W + M_Z < M_H$.
- 3. $M_h = 125 \text{ GeV} < M_H < M_W + M_Z$ and three different options for $A (M_A < M_H, M_H < M_A < M_W + M_Z)$ and $M_A > M_W + M_Z)$.
- 4. $M_H = 125 \,\text{GeV}, \ M_h = 90 \,\text{GeV}$ and $M_A < M_W + M_Z$.

4.1.1 First scenario

In the first scenario the mass of the lightest CP-even scalar is set to $M_h = 125 \,\text{GeV}$. Therefore, the strong constraint on the scalar mixing angle, from the global fit to the light Higgs boson signal strengths using the LHC data, must be used: $|\cos \tilde{\alpha}| > 0.9$ at 68% CL [12–14]. The masses of the remaining neutral scalars are considered to be greater than $M_W + M_Z$ so that decays of a charged Higgs into an on-shell H or A are kinematically forbidden. In the limit $\cos \tilde{\alpha} \to 1$, the only surviving decay amplitude (not proportional to $\sin \tilde{\alpha}$) is the contribution of H to the amplitude $S_{(2)}$. Thus, in this limit the branching ratio of $H^+ \to W^+ \gamma$ is 100%; all the other decay channels vanish.

If we set $\cos \tilde{\alpha} = 0.9$, $\lambda_{hH^+H^-} = \lambda_{HH^+H^-} = 1$, vary the charged Higgs mass in the region $M_{H^{\pm}} \in [M_W, M_W + M_Z]$ and M_H from $M_W + M_Z$ up to 500 GeV, we obtain the branching ratios (top-left) and total decay width (bottom-right) shown in figure 4. The width of the branching ratio bands reflects the variation of the input parameters in the mentioned ranges. The same consideration is valid for the following scenarios. The decay channel $H^+ \to W^+ \gamma$ dominates for $M_{H^{\pm}} \lesssim M_h$. When the charged Higgs is kinematically allowed to decay into an on-shell h, then $H^+ \to hf_u \bar{f}_d$ rapidly becomes the dominant channel as $M_{H^{\pm}}$ grows. The remaining $H^+ \to W^+ b\bar{b}$ branching ratio stays at a few percent level or less for the whole allowed region. The total decay width approximately grows from 10^{-14} up to 10^{-8} GeV, in the region dominated by the radiative $H^+ \to W^+ \gamma$ decay, and sizeably increases up to 10^{-5} GeV, once the $hf_u \bar{f}_d$ production threshold is reached. The tree-level decay rates are significantly larger than the loop-induced one. Flipping the sign of $\cos \tilde{\alpha}$ leads to an equivalent solution with a sign flip of the coupling $\lambda_{hH^+H^-}$. This is also valid for the next scenarios.

If, instead, we consider all the previous settings but taking this time $\lambda_{hH^+H^-} = \lambda_{HH^+H^-} = 0$, then the only amplitude that contributes to the $H^+ \to W^+ \gamma$ decay channel is $S_{(3)}$, which is suppressed by a factor $\sin \tilde{\alpha}$. As shown in figure 4 (top-right), this channel remains the dominant one up to $M_{H^{\pm}} \gtrsim M_h$, but with a sizeably smaller decay width (bottom-right). The $H^+ \to W^+ b\bar{b}$ branching ratio is also more sizeable, raising up to the 10% level.

Let us now consider $\lambda_{hH^+H^-} = \lambda_{HH^+H^-} = -1$ and everything else as previously. In this particular case the amplitudes $S_{(2)}$ and $S_{(3)}$ interfere destructively and, as a consequence, the decay $H^+ \to W^+ b\bar{b}$ competes with $H^+ \to W^+\gamma$. Thus, the $Wb\bar{b}$ decay channel can dominate in some cases. However, as soon as the charged Higgs reaches $M_{H^{\pm}} \gtrsim M_h$, the dominant decay mode is again $H^+ \to hf_u\bar{f}_d$, as in the previous cases (figure 4, bottom-left).



Figure 4. Charged-Higgs branching ratios as functions of $M_{H^{\pm}} \in [M_W, M_W + M_Z]$, for $\cos \tilde{\alpha} = 0.9, M_H \in [M_W + M_Z, 500 \,\text{GeV}]$ and $\lambda_{hH^+H^-} = \lambda_{HH^+H^-} = 1$ (top-left), 0 (top-right) and -1 (bottom-left). The corresponding total decay widths are shown in the bottom-right panel ($\lambda_h^{\pm} \equiv \lambda_{hH^+H^-}$).

4.1.2 Second scenario

In the second scenario the mass of lightest CP-even scalar is set to $M_h = 125 \,\text{GeV}$ and $M_H > M_W + M_Z$, as in the first one, but this time we assume the CP-odd Higgs boson A to have its mass below the WZ threshold $(M_A < M_W + M_Z)$. The decay of the charged Higgs into an on-shell A is then kinematically allowed, but into an on-shell H is forbidden. The same constraint as before is considered for the scalar mixing angle. Taking the limit $\cos \tilde{\alpha} \to 1$, this time there are two surviving decay amplitudes, $H^+ \to W^+ \gamma$ and $H^+ \to A f_u \bar{f}_d$.

Let us consider $\cos \tilde{\alpha} = 0.9$, $\lambda_{hH^+H^-} = \lambda_{HH^+H^-} = 1$ and $M_A = 90$, 130 and 150 GeV. For each value we shall vary M_H from $M_W + M_Z$ up to its allowed upper bound from the oblique parameters (at 68% CL) [12–14], with a maximum limit of 500 GeV. We obtain then the branching ratios and total decay widths in figure 5. We observe that for $M_A = 90$ GeV (top-left), when kinematically allowed, the decay to an on-shell A boson rapidly becomes the dominant one as $M_{H^{\pm}}$ increases. For this configuration the $Wb\bar{b}$ channel is insignificant. When $M_A = 130$ GeV (top-right), which is close to M_h , the decays into an on-shell h or Aboson compete. However, the decay to $Af_u\bar{f}_d$ still dominates even if the masses are similar because of the relative suppression factor $\sin^2 \tilde{\alpha}$ of the $hf_u\bar{f}_d$ width. As M_A becomes heavier, $M_A = 150$ GeV (bottom-left), the decay rate into an on-shell A boson does not grow as rapidly as in the previous cases; thus, $hf_u\bar{f}_d$ dominates over $Af_u\bar{f}_d$ in the considered



Figure 5. Charged-Higgs branching ratios as functions of $M_{H^{\pm}}$, for $\lambda_{hH^+H^-} = \lambda_{HH^+H^-} = 1$, $\cos \tilde{\alpha} = 0.9$ and $M_A = 90$ (top-left), 130 (top-right) and 150 (bottom-left) GeV. M_H is varied from $M_W + M_Z$ up to its permitted value by the oblique parameters. The bottom-right panel shows the corresponding total decay widths.

region. For the last two configurations, that is $M_A = 130$ and 150 GeV, the $H^+ \to W^+ b\bar{b}$ decay channel can also bring sizeable contributions.

The total decay width in this scenario can reach as high as 10^{-3} GeV, see figure 5 (bottom-right). This is approximately two orders of magnitude larger than in the previous case and it is due to the tree-level decays, as we mentioned earlier. The maximum values are reached for the smallest mass of the CP-odd scalar ($M_A = 90$ GeV).

It is worth mentioning that, just as in the previous scenario, the $Wb\bar{b}$ branching ratio can be sizeably increased by decreasing the $W\gamma$ decay width through a sign flip of the $\lambda_{\varphi_i^0H^+H^-}$ couplings, creating destructive interference among the various loop contributions. The same consideration is also valid for the next scenario.

4.1.3 Third scenario

In this scenario the mass of the lightest CP-even scalar is also set to $M_h = 125 \text{ GeV}$, while the heavy CP-even Higgs boson H has its mass in the range $M_h < M_H < M_W + M_Z$. For the mass of the remaining CP-odd scalar we consider three different possibilities: a) $M_A >$ $M_W + M_Z$, so that the decay into an on-shell A is forbidden; b) $M_H < M_A < M_W + M_Z$, and c) $M_A < M_H < M_W + M_Z$. In the last two situations the H^{\pm} boson could decay into any of the three neutral scalars. Again, we use the LHC constraint $|\cos \tilde{\alpha}| > 0.9$ at 68% CL. In the limit $\cos \tilde{\alpha} \to 1$, there are three possible surviving decay channels: $H^+ \to W^+\gamma$, $H^+ \to H f_u \bar{f}_d$ and, when kinematically allowed, $H^+ \to A f_u \bar{f}_d$.

For all three cases we set $\lambda_{hH^+H^-} = \lambda_{HH^+H^-} = 1$ and vary $\cos \tilde{\alpha} \in [0.9, 0.99]$. In figure 6 we show the H^{\pm} branching ratios (top-left) and total decay width (bottom-right) when $M_H = 140 \text{ GeV}$ and $M_A > M_W + M_Z$ (first case). To illustrate the other two possibilities, we set $(M_H, M_A) = (140, 150) \text{ GeV}$ (figure 6, top-right) and $(M_H, M_A) =$ (150, 140) GeV (figure 6, bottom-left). The total H^{\pm} decay widths for these two last configurations are very similar to the first one.

The H^{\pm} decay into an on-shell h boson has a global relative suppression factor of $\tan^2 \tilde{\alpha}$ with respect to the decay into an on-shell H and $\sin^2 \tilde{\alpha}$ with respect to the decay into an on-shell A. Therefore, when $hf_u\bar{f}_d$ competes with $Hf_u\bar{f}_d$, the later one dominates as $\cos \tilde{\alpha} \to 0.99$ (figure 6, upper-left). When all three channels compete, the decay rate into the heaviest scalar boson grows the slowest and, therefore, brings a sub-dominant contribution to the branching ratios.

4.1.4 Fourth scenario

In this last scenario we are going to set the mass of the heavy CP-even scalar to $M_H = 125 \text{ GeV}$; therefore, the LHC bounds translate into $|\sin \tilde{\alpha}| > 0.9$ at 68% CL. The mass of the light CP-even scalar will be set to $M_h = 90 \text{ GeV}$. As for the CP-odd one, we will consider three possible values: $M_A = 150$, 140 and 110 GeV.

In order to safely avoid the stringent constraints on light scalar masses from LEP [68, 69], we need to have very suppressed decay and production channels. In our particular case with $\varsigma_f = 0$, CP-conserving potential, and $M_A > M_h$ (therefore the decays $h \to AA$ and $h \to AZ$ are forbidden), we have the simple relation $\Gamma_h = \cos^2 \tilde{\alpha} \Gamma_h^{\text{SM}}$. Here Γ_h is the total decay rate of the light CP-even scalar boson with $M_h < M_H = 125 \text{ GeV}$, and Γ_h^{SM} the corresponding decay rate in the SM for a Higgs boson with the same mass M_h . The $\cos^2 \tilde{\alpha}$ suppression factor is common to all allowed $h \to f \bar{f}$ decay modes, and cancels out in the branching ratios. The same suppression factor appears in the LEP production rate, so that the signal strengths, relative to the SM, are then given by

$$\mu_X^h \equiv \frac{\sigma(e^+e^- \to Zh) \operatorname{Br}(h \to X)}{\sigma(e^+e^- \to Zh)_{\rm SM} \operatorname{Br}(h \to X)_{\rm SM}} = \cos^2 \tilde{\alpha} , \qquad (4.2)$$

with $X = b\bar{b}$ and $\tau^+\tau^-$. Thus, we have a global suppression factor $\cos^2 \tilde{\alpha}$. The LEP constraints from the $\tau^+\tau^-$ channel, which are the strongest ones in our case, can then be avoided by setting $\cos^2 \tilde{\alpha} \approx 0.02$ ($\sin \tilde{\alpha} \approx 0.99$). The OPAL collaboration has also performed a decay-mode-independent search for a light neutral scalar and found the upper limits $\cos^2 \tilde{\alpha} < 0.1$ (1) for $M_h < 19$ (81) GeV [68], which are weaker (in our case).

It is worth mentioning that in (4.2) we have ignored the charged-Higgs contribution to the $h \to \gamma \gamma$ decay rate. If however, we choose to enhance it through the H^{\pm} loop contribution, it would only further suppress the fermionic branching ratios, weakening the bound on sin $\tilde{\alpha}$.

With all this being said, we set $\sin \tilde{\alpha} = 0.99$. In figure 7 we plot the H^{\pm} branching ratios for $M_A = 150$ (top-left) and 140 GeV (top-right), taking $\lambda_{hH^+H^-} = \lambda_{HH^+H^-}$. In



Figure 6. Charged-Higgs branching ratios as functions of $M_{H^{\pm}}$, for $\lambda_{hH^+H^-} = \lambda_{HH^+H^-} = 1$, $\cos \tilde{\alpha} \in [0.9, 0.99]$, $M_H = 140 \text{ GeV}$, $M_A > M_W + M_Z$ (top-left); $(M_H, M_A) = (140, 150) \text{ GeV}$ (top-right) and $(M_H, M_A) = (150, 140) \text{ GeV}$ (bottom-left). The total decay width for the first case is also shown (bottom-right).

both plots we can observe that, when kinematically allowed, the tree-level $H^+ \to h f_u \bar{f}_d$ decay dominates. In this case, this decay no longer has a suppression factor as its partial width is proportional to $\sin^2 \tilde{\alpha} \sim 1$. The suppression factor appears now in the $H f_u \bar{f}_d$ decay mode with a partial decay width proportional to $\cos^2 \tilde{\alpha}$. This is why, when $M_A \sim M_H$, the decay into an on-shell A boson dominates over the decay into an on-shell H. Both A and H contributions are, however, very suppressed due to their heavy masses. It is also worth mentioning that a small variation of M_A can produce a significant change (roughly, one order of magnitude) in $\operatorname{Br}(H^+ \to A f_u \bar{f}_d)$, as can be seen in figure 7 (top-left and top-right).

For the last case we set M_A to 110 GeV. The perturbativity bounds on neutral scalar couplings to a pair of charged Higgses, for the considered region of the charged Higgs mass, are roughly given by $|\lambda_{\varphi_i^0H^+H^-}| \leq 5$ (here $\varphi_i^0 = h, H$) [14]. In order to see the impact of these two parameters on the H^{\pm} branching ratios, we will vary both independently in this region. The result, shown in figure 7 (bottom-left), is that $W\gamma$ and $hf_u\bar{f}_d$ compete, even after crossing the h production threshold. Since M_A is lighter than in the previous two cases, the $H^+ \to Af_u\bar{f}_d$ branching ratio can also reach higher values. The total decay rate for this configuration is also shown in figure 7 (bottom-right).

As we have seen, in the four proposed scenarios, the configuration of the H^{\pm} branching ratios depends very sensitively on the chosen parameters. However, we can draw some important conclusions. There are only a few decay channels to be analysed and the largest de-



Figure 7. Charged-Higgs branching ratios as functions of $M_{H^{\pm}}$, for sin $\tilde{\alpha} = 0.99$ and $M_h = 90$ GeV. The trilinear couplings are set to $\lambda_{hH^+H^-} = \lambda_{HH^+H^-} = 1$, with $M_A = 150$ GeV (top-left) and $M_A = 140$ GeV (top-right), and $\lambda_{hH^+H^-}$, $\lambda_{HH^+H^-} \in [-5, 5]$ with $M_A = 110$ GeV (bottom-left). The total decay width (bottom-right) for the last case is also shown.

cay widths are the tree-level ones, corresponding to the on-shell production of scalar bosons. Thus, the number of decay channels decreases as the number of neutral scalar bosons that are heavier than the charged Higgs (i.e., $M_{\varphi_i^0} > M_{H^{\pm}}$) increases. The $W\gamma$ decay mode can bring sizeable contributions below and close to the the on-shell production threshold of a scalar boson. Short after this threshold is reached, as $M_{H^{\pm}}$ grows, the $H^+ \to W^+\gamma$ branching ratio rapidly decreases. As we have shown, the $H^+ \to W^+ b\bar{b}$ decay can dominate over $H^+ \to W^+\gamma$ in some cases, depending on the values of the $\lambda_{\varphi_i^0H^+H^-}$ couplings. If a fermiophobic charged Higgs is finally discovered in this mass range, the precise values of its mass and branching ratios would provide priceless information about all other parameters. The masses of the remaining scalars would also be highly constrained by the electroweak oblique parameters. These constraints were used in our second scenario, because they put an upper bound on M_H ; we did not mention them in the other cases, since they do not bring additional constraints. The mean lifetime of a fermiophobic charged scalar is short, ranging from 10^{-11} to 10^{-23} s, making its direct detection very compelling at the LHC.

4.2 Production cross sections

In order to estimate the total hadronic cross sections for the various production channels, we need to convolute the partonic cross sections with the corresponding parton distribution functions (PDFs). Here we will use the MSTW set [70]. Moreover, we will compute the



Figure 8. LO production cross section $\sigma(pp \to H^+ \varphi_i^0)/R^2$ at $\sqrt{s} = 14 \text{ TeV}$ (left), as function of $M_{H^{\pm}}$, for different values of $M_{\varphi_i^0}$. The QCD K factor is shown (right) for $M_{\varphi_i^0} = 125 \text{ GeV}$ and different choices of μ_R and μ_F .

cross sections at the NLO; i.e., including the LO QCD corrections, for which simple analytical expressions can be obtained [71, 72]. For the $q_u \bar{q}_d \to H^+ \varphi_i^0$ associated production, the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$ contributions simply correspond to the QCD corrections to the Drell-Yan process $q_u \bar{q}_d \to W^*$, integrating over the virtuality of the W boson. As for the H^+W^- associated production, the needed QCD corrections can be easily extracted from the SM Higgs production channels $q\bar{q} \to h$ and $gg \to h$. At the LHC, $gg \to H^+W^-$ production dominates over $q\bar{q} \to H^+W^-$. For typical LHC hadronic center-of-mass energies, i.e., $\sqrt{s} \sim 14 \text{ TeV}$, the latter only corresponds at LO to a few percent of the total $pp \to H^+W^-$ cross section, so we can safely neglect it. The detailed expressions of the hadronic cross sections and the QCD corrections are given in appendices C and D. In order to estimate the theoretical uncertainty of the QCD enhancement factor $K \equiv \sigma_{NLO}/\sigma_{LO}$, we vary the factorization (μ_F) and renormalization (μ_R) scales for σ_{NLO} , keeping both scales fixed at their central value $\mu_F = \mu_R = \hat{s}$ for σ_{LO} .

When one of the intermediate scalar bosons reaches its on-shell kinematical region, one needs to estimate also its total decay rate. The explicit expressions for the tree-level scalar decay rates are presented in appendix B.

4.2.1 $H^+ \varphi_i^0$ associated production

Assuming the most general scalar potential, the LO partonic cross section, given in eq. (3.12), is proportional to the combination of rotation matrix elements $R^2 \equiv (\mathcal{R}_{i2}^2 + \mathcal{R}_{i3}^2)$. We take away the explicit dependence on the scalar-potential parameters, plotting in figure 8 (left) the ratio $\sigma(pp \to H^+ \varphi_i^0)/R^2$ at $\sqrt{s} = 14$ TeV, as a function of $M_{H^{\pm}}$, for different values of $M_{\varphi_i^0}$ which can be interpreted as the mass of any of the three neutral scalars of the theory.

As expected, the cross section reaches higher values for lower scalar masses. The most interesting case is of course $M_{\varphi_i^0}=125 \text{ GeV}$, which could constitute a very good detection channel, since we already know that there is one scalar with that mass. If we consider φ_i^0 to be the light CP-even scalar of the theory, the cross section is suppressed by a factor $R^2 = \sin^2 \tilde{\alpha}$. The measurement of this production channel can be experimentally challenging due to the small value of the cross section.

QCD corrections provide a mild enhancement of the cross section. The resulting QCD K factor is shown in figure 8 (right), for $M_{\varphi_i^0} = 125 \text{ GeV}$ and different choices of μ_R and μ_F . Its central value is around 1.2, similarly to other cross sections of the Drell-Yan type.

4.2.2 H^+W^- associated production

For this specific production channel we are going to consider two alternative possibilities: we can either identify the 125 GeV boson with the lightest CP-even scalar h, or with the heaviest one H. In the first case ($M_h = 125 \text{ GeV}$), the scalar H can be heavy enough to reach the on-shell region and, therefore, it is necessary to regulate the propagator pole with its total decay width. In the second case ($M_H = 125 \text{ GeV}$), both M_h and M_H are below the H^+W^- production threshold for the whole considered range of charged Higgs masses. Therefore, there is no need to regulate the h and H poles (assuming their total decay widths to be small).

A) $\mathbf{M_h} = \mathbf{125} \, \mathbf{GeV}$. Let us first estimate the size of the H decay width for three representative values of M_H (150, 200 and 400 GeV) and different choices for the cubic scalar couplings. The CP-odd mass M_A will always be taken within the 68% CL range allowed by the oblique parameters. In the following discussion, we set $\cos \tilde{\alpha} = 0.9$ and ignore the loop-induced decays $H \to gg$ and $H \to \gamma\gamma$, which are suppressed by a $\sin^2 \tilde{\alpha}$ factor with respect to the SM.

For $M_H = 150 \text{ GeV}$, the H boson does not reach the on-shell region (its mass is below the H^+W^- threshold) and its total decay width is in principle not needed to regulate the propagator pole. However, Γ_H can induce sizeable effects for small M_A and large values of the cubic coupling λ_{HAA} . This is shown in figure 9 (upper-left). When $M_A > M_H/2$, the H width is small because its only relevant tree-level decays are $H \to b\bar{b}$, WW and ZZ. However, extra decay channels like $H \to AA$ or $H \to AZ$ are open when one allows A to be light. This possibility is exemplified in the figure, taking $M_A = 50 \text{ GeV}$ and $\lambda_{HAA} = 0$ (therefore $H \to AZ$ is the only extra channel), and also for $|\lambda_{HAA}| = 0.1$, 1 and 5. The width Γ_H varies roughly from around 10^{-3} up to 100 GeV for the considered parameter configurations.

Let us now consider $M_H = 200 \text{ GeV}$. If the CP-odd boson satisfies $M_A > M_H - M_Z \approx 110 \text{ GeV}$, then the channels $H \to AA$, AZ are closed. The open decay channels are $H \to b\bar{b}$, WW, ZZ as before, plus two extra ones: $H \to H^{\pm}W^{\mp}$ (up to $M_{H^{\pm}} \approx 120 \text{ GeV}$) and $H \to H^+H^-$ (up to $M_{H^{\pm}} = 100 \text{ GeV}$). When kinematically allowed (and if $|\lambda_{HH^+H^-}|$ is not too small), the decay into two charged scalars is the dominating channel. There is also a sizeable contribution from $H \to H^{\pm}W^{\mp}$ when this decay mode is open. The predicted values of Γ_H are shown in figure 9 (upper-right) for different values of $|\lambda_{HH^+H^-}|$. If we take instead $M_A = 50 \text{ GeV}$, the channels $H \to AA$, AZ open. The H decay width is shown for this configuration in figure 9 (lower-left), as a function of the charged Higgs mass, taking $|\lambda_{HAA}| = 0$, 5 and $|\lambda_{HH^+H^-}| = 0$, 5. The total H decay width obviously increases with increasing values of $|\lambda_{HAA}|$ and $|\lambda_{HH^+H^-}|$. In the considered range of cubic couplings, Γ_H can vary between 1 and 200 (70) GeV when $H \to H^+H^-$ is allowed (forbidden, $M_{H^{\pm}} > M_H/2$).



Figure 9. Total H decay rate as a function of $M_{H^{\pm}}$ for a) $M_H = 150 \text{ GeV}$ with different values of M_A and $|\lambda_{HAA}|$ (top-left), b) $M_H = 200 \text{ GeV}$ and $M_A > M_H - M_Z$ with different values of $\lambda^{\pm} \equiv |\lambda_{HH^+H^-}|$ (top-right), c) $M_H = 200 \text{ GeV}$ and $M_A = 50 \text{ GeV}$ with different values of $|\lambda_{HH^+H^-}|$ and $|\lambda_{HAA}|$ (bottom-left), and d) $M_H = 400 \text{ GeV}$ and $M_A = 140 \text{ GeV}$ with different values for the set of couplings $(|\lambda_{HAA}|, |\lambda_{Hhh}|, |\lambda_{HH^+H^-}|)$ (bottom-right).

Taking a heavier mass $M_H = 400 \text{ GeV}$, the electroweak oblique parameters imply very stringent restrictions on M_A : the only value that roughly satisfies these constraints for the whole considered range of the charged Higgs mass is $M_A = 140 \text{ GeV}$. For this configuration, all the channels we have considered before are kinematically allowed. Besides, there is an extra one, the decay into two light CP-even scalars $H \to hh$. Thus, we have three unknown couplings λ_{HAA} , λ_{Hhh} , and $\lambda_{HH^+H^-}$. The lower-right panel in figure 9 shows the resulting values of Γ_H , taking ($|\lambda_{HAA}|$, $|\lambda_{Hhh}|$, $|\lambda_{HH^+H^-}|$) = (0,0,0), (5,0,0), (0,5,0), (0,0,5), and (5,5,5). The total H decay rate grows from around 30 GeV when the three cubic scalar couplings are zero, up to approximately 150 GeV when their values are (5,5,5).

Figure 10 (left) shows the predicted LO production cross sections at $\sqrt{s} = 14 \text{ TeV}$, for representative values of M_H and Γ_H , which cover the range of possibilities we have just discussed: $(M_H, \Gamma_H) = (150, 10^{-3})$, (150, 50), (200, 1), (200, 80), (400, 30), and (400, 150) GeV. The cross section is very small when both CP-even scalars are off-shell. For $M_H = 150 \text{ GeV}$, $\sigma(pp \to H^+W^-)$ is roughly smaller than 10^{-3} pb. With $M_H = 200 \text{ GeV}$ and a large decay width $\Gamma_H = 80 \text{ GeV}$, the cross section stays below 10^{-2} pb; however, with a smaller width $\Gamma_H = 1 \text{ GeV}$, the cross section is enhanced by approximately two orders of magnitude (three orders of magnitude with respect to the previous cases), in the region where M_H is on-shell ($M_{H^{\pm}} \lesssim 120 \text{ GeV}$).



Figure 10. LO production cross section $\sigma(pp \to H^+W^-)$ at $\sqrt{s} = 14 \text{ TeV}$ (left), as a function of $M_{H^{\pm}}$, for $M_h = 125 \text{ GeV}$, $\cos \tilde{\alpha} = 0.9$ and different values for the pair (M_H, Γ_H) in GeV. The QCD K factor is shown (right) for $(M_H, \Gamma_H) = (400, 30) \text{ GeV}$ and different choices of μ_R and μ_F .

The most interesting case is when $M_H = 400 \text{ GeV}$, because the cross section gets enhanced by the on-shell H pole, reaching higher values around 0.1 pb. The QCD K factor for this H mass and $\Gamma_H = 30 \text{ GeV}$ is given in figure 10 (right), and it is practically constant in the whole range of $M_{H^{\pm}}$; it approximately corresponds to the K factor for the production of a SM Higgs with a 400 GeV mass. Its central value is around 1.9. A very similar K factor is obtained for $\Gamma_H = 150 \text{ GeV}$, although with a smaller cross section.

Thus, a heavy H boson would be the most favourable situation from the experimental point of view, with production cross sections between 10^{-2} and 1 pb at $\sqrt{s} = 14 \text{ TeV}$, depending on the value of Γ_H , which are potentially measurable at the LHC. As we have seen, they are increased by a factor of ≈ 2 by the NLO QCD corrections. For the other configurations both CP-even scalars are off-shell and the value of the cross section decreases by a few orders of magnitude, which results pretty challenging for the LHC, if not impossible. Nonetheless, these small values could turn out to be measurable in the future if the LHC luminosity is increased by a factor of 10, as planned for its High-Luminosity option.

B) $\mathbf{M_H} = \mathbf{125 \ GeV}$. In this case both CP-even neutral scalars are off-shell and their decay widths can be neglected (assuming they are small). The scalar mixing angle must be small enough to avoid the LEP constraints, thus we take $\sin \tilde{\alpha} = 0.99$, as we have done before in the analysis of branching ratios. The mass of the light scalar will be set to $M_h = 20, 80$ and 100 GeV. The predicted LO production cross sections at $\sqrt{s} = 14 \text{ TeV}$ are shown in figure 11 (left). For the chosen values of M_h , they range in between 10^{-5} and 10^{-6} pb. These values are extremely small and lay below the experimental sensitivity attainable in the near future. This scenario is thus, the most challenging experimentally. The computed K factor, figure 11 (right), has a similar value to the one obtained in the previous scenario.



Figure 11. LO production cross section $\sigma(pp \to H^+W^-)$ at $\sqrt{s} = 14$ TeV (left), as a function of $M_{H^{\pm}}$, for $M_H = 125$ GeV, $\sin \tilde{\alpha} = 0.99$ and $M_h = 20$, 80, 100 GeV. The NLO QCD K factor (right) is shown for $M_h = 20$ GeV and different choices of μ_R and μ_F .

5 Conclusions

The recent discovery of a Higgs-like boson has confirmed the existence of a scalar sector, which so far seems compatible with the SM predictions. As it is widely known, an enlarged scalar sector is not forbidden by the symmetries of the electroweak theory, and there exists a broad range of possibilities satisfying all experimental constraints. The direct discovery of another scalar particle would represent a major break-through in particle physics, opening a window into a new high-energy dynamics and providing priceless information on which type of extension, amongst many theoretical models of the scalar sector, is preferred by Nature.

Here we have focused on a particular 2HDM scenario, characterized by a fermiophobic charged Higgs, which would have evaded all experimental searches performed until now. It is a quite predictive case, since all Yukawa couplings are determined by the mixing among the neutral scalars. We have assumed a CP-conserving scalar potential and have restricted our analysis to the range $M_{H^{\pm}} \in [M_W, M_W + M_Z]$, so that only a few decay modes are kinematically open. We have presented detailed formulae for the loop-induced decay $H^+ \to W^+ \gamma$, which becomes very relevant in this mass region, and for the tree-level three-body decays of the charged scalar. We have analyzed the parameter space of the model, in order to characterize the possible values of the H^{\pm} decay width and branching ratios, taking into account the constraints from LHC, LEP and flavour data.

The two most important production channels for a fermiophobic charged scalar have been investigated, including NLO QCD corrections: the associated production with either a neutral scalar or a charged W; i.e., $q_u \bar{q}_d \rightarrow H^+ \varphi_i^0$ and $gg \rightarrow H^+ W^-$. The predicted cross sections are small in most of the parameter space, making the experimental search challenging, but they become very sizeable ($\geq 10^{-3}$ pb) for large values of the mass of the heavy neutral scalar H. In some extreme cases, cross sections between 0.1 and 1 pb are obtained. Thus, the detection of a fermiophobic H^{\pm} at the LHC seems plausible in the near future. The interesting features of this possible scenario should encourage specific experimental searches for such a particle in the LHC data.

A Scalar potential

In the Higgs basis, the most general scalar potential takes the form

$$V = \mu_{1} \Phi_{1}^{\dagger} \Phi_{1} + \mu_{2} \Phi_{2}^{\dagger} \Phi_{2} + \left[\mu_{3} \Phi_{1}^{\dagger} \Phi_{2} + \mu_{3}^{*} \Phi_{2}^{\dagger} \Phi_{1} \right] \\ + \lambda_{1} \left(\Phi_{1}^{\dagger} \Phi_{1} \right)^{2} + \lambda_{2} \left(\Phi_{2}^{\dagger} \Phi_{2} \right)^{2} + \lambda_{3} \left(\Phi_{1}^{\dagger} \Phi_{1} \right) \left(\Phi_{2}^{\dagger} \Phi_{2} \right) + \lambda_{4} \left(\Phi_{1}^{\dagger} \Phi_{2} \right) \left(\Phi_{2}^{\dagger} \Phi_{1} \right) \\ + \left[\left(\lambda_{5} \Phi_{1}^{\dagger} \Phi_{2} + \lambda_{6} \Phi_{1}^{\dagger} \Phi_{1} + \lambda_{7} \Phi_{2}^{\dagger} \Phi_{2} \right) \left(\Phi_{1}^{\dagger} \Phi_{2} \right) + \text{h.c.} \right].$$
(A.1)

The hermiticity of the potential requires all parameters to be real except μ_3 , λ_5 , λ_6 and λ_7 ; thus, there are 14 real parameters. The minimization conditions $\langle 0|\Phi_1^T(x)|0\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(0,v)$ and $\langle 0|\Phi_2^T(x)|0\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(0,0)$ impose the relations

$$\mu_1 = -\lambda_1 v^2, \qquad \mu_3 = -\frac{1}{2} \lambda_6 v^2.$$
(A.2)

The potential can then be decomposed into a quadratic term plus cubic and quartic interactions

$$V = -\frac{1}{4}\lambda_1 v^4 + V_2 + V_3 + V_4.$$
 (A.3)

The mass terms take the form

$$V_{2} = M_{H^{\pm}}^{2} H^{+} H^{-} + \frac{1}{2} (S_{1}, S_{2}, S_{3}) \mathcal{M} \begin{pmatrix} S_{1} \\ S_{2} \\ S_{3} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= M_{H^{\pm}}^{2} H^{+} H^{-} + \frac{1}{2} M_{h}^{2} h^{2} + \frac{1}{2} M_{H}^{2} H^{2} + \frac{1}{2} M_{A}^{2} A^{2}, \qquad (A.4)$$

with

$$M_{H^{\pm}}^2 = \mu_2 + \frac{1}{2}\,\lambda_3\,v^2 \tag{A.5}$$

and

$$\mathcal{M} = \begin{pmatrix} 2\lambda_1 v^2 & v^2 \lambda_6^{\rm R} & -v^2 \lambda_6^{\rm I} \\ v^2 \lambda_6^{\rm R} & M_{H^{\pm}}^2 + v^2 \left(\frac{\lambda_4}{2} + \lambda_5^{\rm R}\right) & -v^2 \lambda_5^{\rm I} \\ -v^2 \lambda_6^{\rm I} & -v^2 \lambda_5^{\rm I} & M_{H^{\pm}}^2 + v^2 \left(\frac{\lambda_4}{2} - \lambda_5^{\rm R}\right) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (A.6)$$

where $\lambda_i^{\rm R} \equiv {\rm Re}(\lambda_i)$ and $\lambda_i^{\rm I} \equiv {\rm Im}(\lambda_i)$. The symmetric mass matrix \mathcal{M} is diagonalized by an orthogonal matrix \mathcal{R} , which defines the neutral mass eigenstates:

$$\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{R}^T \, \mathcal{M}_D \, \mathcal{R} \,, \qquad \qquad \varphi^0 = \mathcal{R} \, S \,, \qquad (A.7)$$

where we have introduced the shorthand matrix notation

$$\mathcal{M}_D \equiv \begin{pmatrix} M_h^2 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & M_H^2 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & M_A^2 \end{pmatrix} , \qquad \varphi^0 \equiv \begin{pmatrix} h\\ H\\ A \end{pmatrix} , \qquad S \equiv \begin{pmatrix} S_1\\ S_2\\ S_3 \end{pmatrix} . \quad (A.8)$$

Since the trace remains invariant, the masses satisfy the relation

$$M_h^2 + M_H^2 + M_A^2 = 2M_{H^{\pm}}^2 + v^2 \left(2\lambda_1 + \lambda_4\right).$$
(A.9)

The minimization conditions allow us to trade the parameters μ_1 and μ_3 by v and λ_6 . The freedom to rephase the field Φ_2 implies, moreover, that only the relative phases among λ_5 , λ_6 and λ_7 are physical; but only two of them are independent. Therefore, we can fully characterize the potential with 11 parameters: v, μ_2 , $|\lambda_{1,...,7}|$, $\arg(\lambda_5\lambda_6^*)$ and $\arg(\lambda_5\lambda_7^*)$. Four parameters can be determined through the physical scalar masses [14]. The matrix equation

$$\left(\mathcal{M} \mathcal{R}^T - \mathcal{R}^T \mathcal{M}_D\right) = 0 \tag{A.10}$$

relates the scalar masses and mixings. Summing the second row with (-i) times the third row, one obtains the identity (imaginary parts included):

$$v^{2}\lambda_{6}\mathcal{R}_{i1} + \left[M_{H^{\pm}}^{2} - M_{\varphi_{i}^{0}}^{2} + v^{2}\left(\frac{\lambda_{4}}{2} + \lambda_{5}\right)\right](\mathcal{R}_{i2} - i\mathcal{R}_{i3}) + 2iv^{2}\lambda_{5}\mathcal{R}_{i3} = 0.$$
(A.11)

This proves in full generality that

$$\left(\mathcal{R}_{i2} - i\mathcal{R}_{i3}\right) \frac{M_{\varphi_i^0}^2 - M_{H^{\pm}}^2}{v^2} = \left(\mathcal{R}_{i2} - i\mathcal{R}_{i3}\right) \left(\frac{\lambda_4}{2} + \lambda_5\right) + 2i\mathcal{R}_{i3}\lambda_5 + \mathcal{R}_{i1}\lambda_6 = \lambda_{H^+G^-\varphi_i^0}.$$
(A.12)

Taking instead the first row, one gets:

$$\left(2\lambda_{1}v^{2} - M_{\varphi_{i}^{0}}^{2}\right)\mathcal{R}_{i1} + v^{2}\lambda_{6}^{R}\mathcal{R}_{i2} - v^{2}\lambda_{6}^{I}\mathcal{R}_{i3} = 0, \qquad (A.13)$$

which generalizes the usual relation determining $\tan \tilde{\alpha}$ in the CP-conserving limit ($\mathcal{R}_{13} = \mathcal{R}_{23} = 0$). It also proves that the following identity holds in general

$$\frac{M_{\varphi_i^0}^2}{v} \,\mathcal{R}_{i1} = 2R_{i1}\lambda_1 + i\mathcal{R}_{i3}\lambda_6 + (\mathcal{R}_{i2} - i\mathcal{R}_{i3})\lambda_6^{\rm R} = \lambda_{G^+G^-\varphi_i^0} \,. \tag{A.14}$$

Here, similarly to eq. (2.6), we have parametrized the Goldstone terms of V_3 in the form

$$\left(v \lambda_{H^+G^-\varphi_i^0} H^+G^-\varphi_i^0 + \text{h.c.}\right) + v \lambda_{H^+H^-\varphi_i^0} G^+G^-\varphi_i^0 \subset V_3.$$
(A.15)

These identities generalize the ones from [73], that are valid only in the CP-conserving limit of the scalar potential. They turn out to be very useful if one works in R_{ξ} gauges with a fully general potential.

Using again eq. (A.13), the orthogonality of \mathcal{R} implies:

$$\sum_{i} \mathcal{R}_{i1}^2 M_{\varphi_i^0}^2 = 2\lambda_1 v^2, \qquad \sum_{i} \mathcal{R}_{i1} \mathcal{R}_{i2} M_{\varphi_i^0}^2 = \lambda_6^{\mathrm{R}} v^2, \qquad \sum_{i} \mathcal{R}_{i1} \mathcal{R}_{i3} M_{\varphi_i^0}^2 = -\lambda_6^{\mathrm{I}} v^2.$$
(A.16)

Eq. (A.11) gives the additional orthogonality relations.

$$\sum_{i} \mathcal{R}_{i1} (\mathcal{R}_{i2} - i\mathcal{R}_{i3}) M_{\varphi_i^0}^2 = \lambda_6 v^2, \qquad (A.17)$$

$$\sum_{i} \mathcal{R}_{i2} (\mathcal{R}_{i2} - i\mathcal{R}_{i3}) M_{\varphi_i^0}^2 = M_{H^{\pm}}^2 + v^2 \left(\frac{\lambda_4}{2} + \lambda_5\right), \qquad (A.18)$$

$$i\sum_{i} \mathcal{R}_{i3}(\mathcal{R}_{i2} - i\mathcal{R}_{i3}) M_{\varphi_i^0}^2 = M_{H^{\pm}}^2 + v^2 \left(\frac{\lambda_4}{2} - \lambda_5\right).$$
(A.19)

The first identity reproduces in complex form the last two real equations in (A.16). Separating the real and imaginary parts of the last two relations, one gets:

$$\sum_{i} \mathcal{R}_{i2}^2 \ M_{\varphi_i^0}^2 = M_{H^{\pm}}^2 + v^2 \left(\frac{\lambda_4}{2} + \lambda_5^{\mathrm{R}}\right) \ , \tag{A.20}$$

$$\sum_{i} \mathcal{R}_{i3}^2 M_{\varphi_i^0}^2 = M_{H^{\pm}}^2 + v^2 \left(\frac{\lambda_4}{2} - \lambda_5^{\rm R}\right) , \qquad (A.21)$$

$$\sum_{i} \mathcal{R}_{i2} \mathcal{R}_{i3} M_{\varphi_i^0}^2 = -v^2 \lambda_5^{\rm I} .$$
 (A.22)

A.1 Inert 2HDM

Imposing a discrete \mathcal{Z}_2 symmetry such that all SM fields remain invariant under a \mathcal{Z}_2 transformation, while

$$\Phi_1 \to \Phi_1, \qquad \Phi_2 \to -\Phi_2, \qquad (A.23)$$

one makes the second scalar doublet *inert*: linear interactions of Φ_2 with the SM fields are odd under a \mathcal{Z}_2 transformation, and thus forbidden [49, 50]. In particular, Φ_2 is fermiophobic. This inert scalar doublet can only interact with the other fields through quadratic couplings. The lightest neutral component of Φ_2 is then a very good candidate for dark matter.

The Z_2 symmetry implies a significant simplification of the scalar potential, because all terms with an odd number of Φ_2 fields vanish: $\mu_3 = \lambda_6 = \lambda_7 = 0$. Moreover, making an appropriate rephasing of Φ_2 , λ_5 can be taken real. Therefore, the neutral mass matrix (A.6) becomes diagonal and there is no mixing among the neutral scalars ($\mathcal{R} = I$). The neutral scalar masses are given by:

$$M_h^2 = 2\lambda_1 v^2, \quad M_H^2 = M_{H^{\pm}}^2 + \left(\frac{\lambda_4}{2} + \lambda_5\right) v^2, \quad M_A^2 = M_{H^{\pm}}^2 + \left(\frac{\lambda_4}{2} - \lambda_5\right) v^2. \quad (A.24)$$

B Heavy neutral Higgs decay rates

In this section we are going to write down the tree-level on-shell two-body dominant decay rates of a heavy neutral Higgs. All the formulae presented here are, as in section 3, completely general (no assumptions are made on the Higgs potential and the A2HDM Yukawa structure is assumed). The decay rate of a neutral scalar to a pair of massive fermions is given by:

$$\Gamma(\varphi_i^0 \to f\bar{f}) = \frac{N_c^f m_f^2 M_{\varphi_i^0}}{8 \pi v^2} \left(1 - \frac{4m_f^2}{M_{\varphi_i^0}^2}\right)^{3/2} \left[\operatorname{Re}(y_f^{\varphi_i^0})^2 + \operatorname{Im}(y_f^{\varphi_i^0})^2 \left(1 - \frac{4m_f^2}{M_{\varphi_i^0}^2}\right)^{-1}\right], \quad (B.1)$$

where N_c^f is 1 for leptons and 3 for quarks. The decay into two gauge bosons reads (V = W, Z)

$$\Gamma(\varphi_i^0 \to VV) = \mathcal{R}_{i1}^2 \frac{M_{\varphi_i^0}^3 \,\delta_V}{32 \,\pi \,v^2} \left(1 - \frac{4M_V^2}{M_{\varphi_i^0}^2}\right)^{1/2} \left(1 - \frac{4M_V^2}{M_{\varphi_i^0}^2} + \frac{12M_V^4}{M_{\varphi_i^0}^4}\right),\tag{B.2}$$

with $\delta_Z = 1$ and $\delta_W = 2$. Other channels that can bring important contributions are $\varphi_i^0 \to \varphi_j^0 \varphi_j^0$ and $\varphi_i^0 \to H^+ H^-$. The corresponding decay widths are given by

$$\Gamma(\varphi_i^0 \to \varphi_j^0 \varphi_j^0) = \frac{v^2 \,\lambda_{\varphi_i^0 \varphi_j^0 \varphi_j^0}^2}{32 \,\pi \, M_{\varphi_i^0}} \left(1 - \frac{4M_{\varphi_j^0}^2}{M_{\varphi_i^0}^2}\right)^{1/2},\tag{B.3}$$

$$\Gamma(\varphi_i^0 \to H^+ H^-) = \frac{v^2 \,\lambda_{\varphi_i^0 H^+ H^-}^2}{16 \,\pi \, M_{\varphi_i^0}} \left(1 - \frac{4M_{H^\pm}^2}{M_{\varphi_i^0}^2}\right)^{1/2},\tag{B.4}$$

where, for the charged Higgs interaction Lagrangian we have used the parametrization given in (2.6) and we have parametrized the cubic interaction of the neutral Higgs fields as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\varphi_i^0 \varphi_j^0 \varphi_j^0} = -\frac{v}{2} \lambda_{\varphi_i^0 \varphi_j^0 \varphi_j^0} \varphi_i^0 \varphi_j^0 \varphi_j^0 \cdot (B.5)$$

Explicit expressions for these couplings can be found in [14]. Here we didn't consider the off-shell $\varphi_i^0 \to \varphi_j^{0*} \varphi_j^{0*}$ decay mode because in addition to its kinematical suppression it also depends on the unknown parameter $\lambda_{\varphi_i^0 \varphi_j^0 \varphi_j^0}$ and would not bring useful information. The last two processes that must be taken into account are $\varphi_i^0 \to \varphi_j^0 Z$ and $\varphi_i^0 \to H^+ W^-$. We have

$$\Gamma(\varphi_i^0 \to \varphi_j^0 Z) = (\mathcal{R}_{i3} \, \mathcal{R}_{j2} - \mathcal{R}_{i2} \, \mathcal{R}_{j3})^2 \, \frac{1}{16 \, \pi \, v^2 M_{\varphi_i^0}^3} \, \lambda^{3/2} (M_{\varphi_i^0}^2, M_{\varphi_j^0}^2, M_Z^2) \,, \qquad (B.6)$$

$$\Gamma(\varphi_i^0 \to H^+ W^-) = (\mathcal{R}_{i2}^2 + \mathcal{R}_{i3}^2) \frac{1}{16 \pi v^2 M_{\varphi_i^0}^3} \lambda^{3/2} (M_{\varphi_i^0}^2, M_{H^\pm}^2, M_W^2).$$
(B.7)

Again, the scalar couplings to gauge bosons are taken from [14].

C QCD corrections to $pp \rightarrow H^+ \varphi_i^0$

For the $H^+ \varphi_i^0$ associated production, we write the LO hadronic cross section as

$$\sigma_{\rm LO} = \int_{\tau_0}^1 d\tau \int_{\tau}^1 \frac{dx}{x} \sum_{q_u, \bar{q}_d} \left[q_u(x, \mu_F) \, \bar{q}_d(\tau/x, \mu_F) + \bar{q}_d(x, \mu_F) \, q_u(\tau/x, \mu_F) \right] \hat{\sigma}_{\rm LO}(\hat{s} = \tau s) \,, \tag{C.1}$$

where we have introduced the shorthand notation $\hat{\sigma}_{\text{LO}} \equiv \hat{\sigma}(q_u \bar{q}_d \to H^+ \varphi_i^0)$, for the partonic cross section given in eq. (3.12). As usual, the partonic invariant-mass \hat{s} must be expressed as a fraction of the hadronic center-of-mass energy s, that is $\hat{s} = \tau s$. The lower integration limit is given by $\tau_0 = (M_{H^{\pm}} + M_{\varphi_i^0})^2/s$. The PDFs $q_i(x, \mu_F)$, for a given quark flavour 'i', depend on the momentum fraction x and the factorization scale μ_F .

The NLO cross section, that includes first-order QCD corrections, can be cast in the simple form [71, 72]

$$\sigma_{\rm NLO} = \sigma_{\rm LO} + \Delta \sigma_{q\bar{q}} + \Delta \sigma_{qg} \,, \tag{C.2}$$

where $\Delta \sigma_{q\bar{q}}$ and $\Delta \sigma_{qg}$ are given by

$$\Delta \sigma_{q\bar{q}} = \frac{\alpha_s(\mu_R)}{\pi} \int_{\tau_0}^1 d\tau \int_{\tau}^1 \frac{dx}{x} \sum_{q_u,\bar{q}_d} \left[q_u(x,\mu_F) \,\bar{q}_d(\tau/x,\mu_F) + \bar{q}_d(x,\mu_F) \,q_u(\tau/x,\mu_F) \right] \\ \times \int_{\tau_0/\tau}^1 dz \,\,\hat{\sigma}_{\mathrm{LO}}(\tau s z) \,\omega_{q\bar{q}}(z) \,, \tag{C.3}$$
$$\Delta \sigma_{qg} = \frac{\alpha_s(\mu_R)}{\pi} \int_{\tau_0}^1 d\tau \int_{\tau}^1 \frac{dx}{x} \sum_{q_u,\bar{q}_d} \left[q_u(x,\mu_F) \,g(\tau/x,\mu_F) + g(x,\mu_F) \,q_u(\tau/x,\mu_F) \right]$$

$$+ \bar{q}_d(x,\mu_F) g(\tau/x,\mu_F) + g(x,\mu_F) \bar{q}_d(\tau/x,\mu_F) \left] \int_{\tau_0/\tau}^1 dz \, \hat{\sigma}_{\rm LO}(\tau sz) \, \omega_{qg}(z) \,, \quad (C.4)$$

with μ_R the renormalization scale and

$$\omega_{q\bar{q}}(z) = -P_{qq}(z) \log\left(\frac{\mu_F^2}{\tau s}\right) + \frac{4}{3} \left[\left(\frac{\pi^2}{3} - 4\right) \delta(1-z) + 2\left(1+z^2\right) \left(\frac{\log(1-z)}{1-z}\right)_+ \right],$$

$$\omega_{qg}(z) = -\frac{1}{2} P_{qg}(z) \log\left(\frac{\mu_F^2}{(1-z)^2 \tau s}\right) + \frac{1}{8} \left[1 + 6z - 7z^2 \right].$$
(C.5)

The Altarelli-Parisi splitting functions P_{qq} and P_{qg} are given by

$$P_{qq}(z) = \frac{4}{3} \left[\frac{1+z^2}{(1-z)_+} + \frac{3}{2} \,\delta(1-z) \right], \qquad P_{qg}(z) = \frac{1}{2} \left[z^2 + (1-z)^2 \right], \tag{C.6}$$

where F_+ is the '+' distribution defined as $F_+(x) = F(x) - \delta(1-x) \int_0^1 dx' F(x')$, and

$$\int_{a}^{1} dz \ g(z) \left(\frac{f(z)}{1-z}\right)_{+} \equiv \int_{a}^{1} dz \left(g(z) - g(1)\right) \frac{f(z)}{1-z} - g(1) \int_{0}^{a} dz \ \frac{f(z)}{1-z}.$$
 (C.7)

D QCD corrections to $pp \rightarrow H^+W^-$

The LO hadronic production cross section for the dominant gluon-fusion channel (in the heavy top-mass approximation) can be cast in the simple form

$$\sigma_{\rm LO} = \int_{\tau_0}^1 d\tau \int_{\tau}^1 \frac{dx}{x} g(x,\mu_F) g(\tau/x,\mu_F) \,\hat{\sigma}_{\rm LO}(\hat{s}=\tau s) \,, \tag{D.1}$$

where $\hat{\sigma}_{\text{LO}}$ stands for the partonic cross section $\hat{\sigma}(gg \to H^+W^-)$, given in eq. (3.15), and $\tau_0 = (M_{H^{\pm}} + M_W)^2/s$. At the NLO, the cross section can be written as [71, 72]

$$\sigma_{\rm NLO} = \sigma_{\rm LO} + \Delta \sigma_{gg}^{\rm virt} + \Delta \sigma_{gg} + \Delta \sigma_{q\bar{q}} + \Delta \sigma_{gq} \,, \tag{D.2}$$

where:

$$\Delta \sigma_{gg}^{\text{virt}} = \frac{\alpha_s(\mu_R)}{\pi} \int_{\tau_0}^1 d\tau \int_{\tau}^1 \frac{dx}{x} g(x,\mu_F) g(\tau/x,\mu_F) \,\hat{\sigma}_{\text{LO}}(\tau s) \,\omega_{gg}^{\text{virt}} \,, \tag{D.3}$$

$$\Delta \sigma_{gg} = \frac{\alpha_s(\mu_R)}{\pi} \int_{\tau_0}^1 d\tau \int_{\tau}^1 \frac{dx}{x} g(x,\mu_F) g(\tau/x,\mu_F) \int_{\tau_0/\tau}^1 \frac{dz}{z} \hat{\sigma}_{\rm LO}(\tau sz) \omega_{gg}(z) , \qquad (D.4)$$

$$\Delta \sigma_{gq} = \frac{\alpha_s(\mu_R)}{\pi} \int_{\tau_0}^1 d\tau \int_{\tau}^1 \frac{dx}{x} \sum_{q,\bar{q}} \left[q(x,\mu_F) g(\tau/x,\mu_F) + g(x,\mu_F) q(\tau/x,\mu_F) \right]$$
(D.5)

$$+ \bar{q}(x,\mu_F) g(\tau/x,\mu_F) + g(x,\mu_F) \bar{q}(\tau/x,\mu_F) \left[\int_{\tau_0/\tau}^1 \frac{dz}{z} \hat{\sigma}_{\mathrm{LO}}(\tau sz) \omega_{gq}(z) \right],$$

$$\Delta \sigma_{q\bar{q}} = \frac{\alpha_s(\mu_R)}{\pi} \int_{\tau_0}^1 d\tau \int_{\tau}^1 \frac{dx}{x} \sum_{q,\bar{q}} \left[q(x,\mu_F) \,\bar{q}(\tau/x,\mu_F) + \bar{q}(x,\mu_F) \,q(\tau/x,\mu_F) \right] \quad (D.6)$$
$$\times \int_{\tau_0/\tau}^1 \frac{dz}{z} \,\hat{\sigma}_{\rm LO}(\tau s z) \,\frac{32}{27} (1-z)^3 \,,$$

with the functions $\omega_{gg}^{\text{virt}}$, ω_{gg} and ω_{gq} given by

$$\begin{split} \omega_{gg}^{\text{virt}} &= \pi^2 + \frac{11}{2} + \frac{33 - 2N_f}{6} \log\left(\frac{\mu_R^2}{\tau s}\right), \\ \omega_{gg} &= -z \, P_{gg}(z) \log\left(\frac{\mu_F^2}{\tau s}\right) - \frac{11}{2} \, (1-z)^3 + 12 \left(\frac{\log(1-z)}{1-z}\right)_+ - 12 \, z \, (2-z+z^2) \, \log(1-z) \,, \\ \omega_{gq} &= -\frac{z}{2} \, P_{gq}(z) \, \log\left(\frac{\mu_F^2}{\tau s \, (1-z)^2}\right) - 1 + 2 \, z - \frac{1}{3} \, z^2 \,, \end{split}$$
(D.7)

where P_{gg} and P_{gq} are the Altarelli-Parisi splitting functions

$$P_{gg}(z) = 6 \left[\left(\frac{1}{1-z} \right)_{+} + \frac{1}{z} - 2 + z \left(1 - z \right) \right] + \frac{33 - 2N_f}{6} \,\delta(1-z) \,,$$
$$P_{gq}(z) = \frac{4}{3} \, \frac{1 + (1-z)^2}{z} \,. \tag{D.8}$$

Acknowledgments

This work has been supported in part by the Spanish Government and ERDF funds from the EU Commission [Grants FPA2011-23778 and CSD2007-00042 (Consolider Project CPAN)] and by Generalitat Valenciana under Grant No. PROMETEOII/2013/007. The work of V.I. is supported by the Spanish Ministry MINECO through the FPI grant BES-2012-054676.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- ATLAS collaboration, Observation of a new particle in the search for the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 1
 [arXiv:1207.7214] [INSPIRE].
- [2] ATLAS collaboration, Measurements of Higgs boson production and couplings in diboson final states with the ATLAS detector at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 726 (2013) 88
 [arXiv:1307.1427] [INSPIRE].
- [3] ATLAS collaboration, Search for the bb decay of the Standard Model Higgs boson in associated W/ZH production with the ATLAS detector, ATLAS-CONF-2013-079 (2013).
- [4] ATLAS collaboration, Combined coupling measurements of the Higgs-like boson with the ATLAS detector using up to 25 fb⁻¹ of proton-proton collision data, ATLAS-CONF-2013-034 (2013).
- [5] CMS collaboration, Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 GeV with the CMS experiment at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 30 [arXiv:1207.7235] [INSPIRE].
- [6] CMS collaboration, Observation of a new boson with mass near 125 GeV in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ and 8 TeV, JHEP 06 (2013) 081 [arXiv:1303.4571] [INSPIRE].
- [7] CMS collaboration, Measurements of the properties of the new boson with a mass near 125 GeV, CMS-PAS-HIG-13-005 (2013).
- [8] CDF and D0 collaborations, Evidence for a particle produced in association with weak bosons and decaying to a bottom-antibottom quark pair in Higgs boson searches at the Tevatron, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (2012) 071804 [arXiv:1207.6436] [INSPIRE].
- [9] CDF and D0 collaborations, Higgs Boson Studies at the Tevatron, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 052014 [arXiv:1303.6346] [INSPIRE].
- [10] J.F. Gunion, H.E. Haber, G.L. Kane and S. Dawson, The Higgs Hunter's Guide, Front. Phys. 80 (2000) 1 [INSPIRE]
- [11] G.C. Branco et al., Theory and phenomenology of two-Higgs-doublet models, Phys. Rept. 516 (2012) 1 [arXiv:1106.0034] [INSPIRE].
- [12] A. Celis, V. Ilisie and A. Pich, Towards a general analysis of LHC data within two-Higgs-doublet models, JHEP 12 (2013) 095 [arXiv:1310.7941] [INSPIRE].
- [13] V. Ilisie, Constraining the two-Higgs doublet models with the LHC data, PoS(EPS-HEP 2013)286 [arXiv:1310.0931] [INSPIRE].
- [14] A. Celis, V. Ilisie and A. Pich, LHC constraints on two-Higgs doublet models, JHEP 07 (2013) 053 [arXiv:1302.4022] [INSPIRE].
- [15] A. Pich and P. Tuzon, Yukawa Alignment in the Two-Higgs-Doublet Model, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 091702 [arXiv:0908.1554] [INSPIRE].
- [16] M. Jung, A. Pich and P. Tuzon, Charged-Higgs phenomenology in the Aligned two-Higgs-doublet model, JHEP 11 (2010) 003 [arXiv:1006.0470] [INSPIRE].
- [17] M. Jung, A. Pich and P. Tuzon, The $B \to X_s \gamma$ Rate and CP Asymmetry within the Aligned Two-Higgs-Doublet Model, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 074011 [arXiv:1011.5154] [INSPIRE].
- [18] M. Jung, X.-Q. Li and A. Pich, Exclusive radiative B-meson decays within the aligned two-Higgs-doublet model, JHEP 10 (2012) 063 [arXiv:1208.1251] [INSPIRE].

- [19] A. Celis, M. Jung, X.-Q. Li and A. Pich, Sensitivity to charged scalars in $B \to D^{(*)} \tau \nu_{\tau}$ and $B \to \tau \nu_{\tau}$ decays, JHEP **01** (2013) 054 [arXiv:1210.8443] [INSPIRE].
- [20] M. Jung and A. Pich, Electric Dipole Moments in Two-Higgs-Doublet Models, JHEP 04 (2014) 076 [arXiv:1308.6283] [INSPIRE].
- [21] X.-Q. Li, J. Lu and A. Pich, $B^0_{s,d} \rightarrow \ell^+ \ell^-$ Decays in the Aligned Two-Higgs-Doublet Model, JHEP 06 (2014) 022 [arXiv:1404.5865] [INSPIRE].
- [22] A. Pich, The Physics of the Higgs-like Boson, EPJ Web Conf. 60 (2013) 02006 [arXiv:1307.7700] [INSPIRE].
- [23] O. Deschamps et al., The Two Higgs Doublet of Type II facing flavour physics data, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 073012 [arXiv:0907.5135] [INSPIRE].
- [24] A. Barroso, P.M. Ferreira, R. Santos, M. Sher and J.P. Silva, 2HDM at the LHC the story so far, arXiv:1304.5225 [INSPIRE].
- [25] B. Grinstein and P. Uttayarat, Carving Out Parameter Space in Type-II Two Higgs Doublets Model, JHEP 06 (2013) 094 [Erratum ibid. 1309 (2013) 110] [arXiv:1304.0028] [INSPIRE].
- [26] O. Eberhardt, U. Nierste and M. Wiebusch, Status of the two-Higgs-doublet model of type-II, JHEP 07 (2013) 118 [arXiv:1305.1649] [INSPIRE].
- [27] C.-Y. Chen, S. Dawson and M. Sher, *Heavy Higgs Searches and Constraints on Two Higgs Doublet Models*, *Phys. Rev.* D 88 (2013) 015018 [arXiv:1305.1624] [INSPIRE].
- [28] N. Craig, J. Galloway and S. Thomas, Searching for Signs of the Second Higgs Doublet, arXiv:1305.2424 [INSPIRE].
- [29] B. Coleppa, F. Kling and S. Su, Constraining Type II 2HDM in Light of LHC Higgs Searches, JHEP 01 (2014) 161 [arXiv:1305.0002] [INSPIRE].
- [30] J. Shu and Y. Zhang, Impact of a CP-violating Higgs Sector: From LHC to Baryogenesis, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 091801 [arXiv:1304.0773] [INSPIRE].
- [31] C.-W. Chiang and K. Yagyu, Implications of Higgs boson search data on the two-Higgs doublet models with a softly broken Z₂ symmetry, JHEP 07 (2013) 160 [arXiv:1303.0168] [INSPIRE].
- [32] M. Krawczyk, D. Sokolowska, P. Swaczyna and B. Swiezewska, Constraining Inert Dark Matter by $R_{\gamma\gamma}$ and WMAP data, JHEP **09** (2013) 055 [arXiv:1305.6266] [INSPIRE].
- [33] B. Swiezewska and M. Krawczyk, Diphoton rate in the inert doublet model with a 125GeV Higgs boson, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 035019 [arXiv:1212.4100] [INSPIRE].
- [34] B. wieewska, Yukawa independent constraints for two-Higgs-doublet models with a 125 GeV Higgs boson, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 055027 [arXiv:1209.5725] [INSPIRE].
- [35] M. Krawczyk, D. Sokolowska, P. Swaczyna and B. Świeżewska, $Higgs \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$, $Z\gamma$ in the Inert Doublet Model, Acta Phys. Polon. B 44 (2013) 2163 [arXiv:1309.7880] [INSPIRE].
- [36] G. Bélanger, B. Dumont, U. Ellwanger, J.F. Gunion and S. Kraml, Global fit to Higgs signal strengths and couplings and implications for extended Higgs sectors, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 075008 [arXiv:1306.2941] [INSPIRE].
- [37] R. Enberg, J. Rathsman and G. Wouda, *Higgs properties in a softly broken Inert Doublet Model*, JHEP 08 (2013) 079 [arXiv:1304.1714] [INSPIRE].

- [38] G.C. Dorsch, S.J. Huber and J.M. No, A strong electroweak phase transition in the 2HDM after LHC8, JHEP 10 (2013) 029 [arXiv:1305.6610] [INSPIRE].
- [39] G.C. Dorsch, S. Huber, K. Mimasu and J.M. No, Echoes of the Electroweak Phase Transition: Discovering a second Higgs doublet through $A_0 \rightarrow H_0Z$, arXiv:1405.5537 [INSPIRE].
- [40] G. Bhattacharyya, D. Das and A. Kundu, Feasibility of light scalars in a class of two-Higgs-doublet models and their decay signatures, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 095029
 [arXiv:1402.0364] [INSPIRE].
- [41] W. Altmannshofer, S. Gori and G.D. Kribs, A Minimal Flavor Violating 2HDM at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 115009 [arXiv:1210.2465] [INSPIRE].
- [42] S. Chang et al., Two Higgs doublet models for the LHC Higgs boson data at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ and 8 TeV, arXiv:1310.3374 [INSPIRE].
- [43] K. Cheung, J.S. Lee and P.-Y. Tseng, *Higgcision in the Two-Higgs Doublet Models*, *JHEP* 01 (2014) 085 [arXiv:1310.3937] [INSPIRE].
- [44] R. Enberg, J. Rathsman and G. Wouda, *Higgs phenomenology in the Stealth Doublet Model*, arXiv:1311.4367 [INSPIRE].
- [45] ATLAS collaboration, Search for charged Higgs bosons decaying via $H^+ \rightarrow \tau \nu$ in top quark pair events using pp collision data at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ TeV with the ATLAS detector, JHEP 06 (2012) 039 [arXiv:1204.2760] [INSPIRE].
- [46] ATLAS collaboration, Search for charged Higgs bosons in the τ +jets final state with pp collision data recorded at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV with the ATLAS experiment, ATLAS-CONF-2013-090 (2013).
- [47] ATLAS collaboration, Search for a light charged Higgs boson in the decay channel $H^+ \rightarrow c\bar{s}$ in $t\bar{t}$ events using pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ TeV with the ATLAS detector, Eur. Phys. J. C 73 (2013) 2465 [arXiv:1302.3694] [INSPIRE].
- [48] CMS collaboration, Search for a light charged Higgs boson in top quark decays in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$, JHEP **07** (2012) 143 [arXiv:1205.5736] [INSPIRE].
- [49] E. Ma, Utility of a Special Second Scalar Doublet, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 23 (2008) 647
 [arXiv:0802.2917] [INSPIRE].
- [50] E. Ma, Verifiable radiative seesaw mechanism of neutrino mass and dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 077301 [hep-ph/0601225] [INSPIRE].
- [51] Q.-H. Cao, E. Ma and G. Rajasekaran, Observing the Dark Scalar Doublet and its Impact on the Standard-Model Higgs Boson at Colliders, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 095011
 [arXiv:0708.2939] [INSPIRE].
- [52] R. Barbieri, L.J. Hall and V.S. Rychkov, Improved naturalness with a heavy Higgs: An Alternative road to LHC physics, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 015007 [hep-ph/0603188] [INSPIRE].
- [53] L. Lopez Honorez, E. Nezri, J.F. Oliver and M.H.G. Tytgat, The Inert Doublet Model: An Archetype for Dark Matter, JCAP 02 (2007) 028 [hep-ph/0612275] [INSPIRE].
- [54] C. Arina, F.-S. Ling and M.H.G. Tytgat, IDM and iDM or The Inert Doublet Model and Inelastic Dark Matter, JCAP 10 (2009) 018 [arXiv:0907.0430] [INSPIRE].
- [55] L. Lopez Honorez and C.E. Yaguna, The inert doublet model of dark matter revisited, JHEP 09 (2010) 046 [arXiv:1003.3125] [INSPIRE].

- [56] L. Lopez Honorez and C.E. Yaguna, A new viable region of the inert doublet model, JCAP
 01 (2011) 002 [arXiv:1011.1411] [INSPIRE].
- [57] E.M. Dolle and S. Su, The Inert Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 055012
 [arXiv:0906.1609] [INSPIRE].
- [58] A. Arhrib, Y.-L.S. Tsai, Q. Yuan and T.-C. Yuan, An Updated Analysis of Inert Higgs Doublet Model in light of the Recent Results from LUX, PLANCK, AMS-02 and LHC, arXiv:1310.0358 [INSPIRE].
- [59] I.F. Ginzburg, K.A. Kanishev, M. Krawczyk and D. Sokolowska, Evolution of Universe to the present inert phase, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 123533 [arXiv:1009.4593] [INSPIRE].
- [60] N. Cabibbo, Unitary Symmetry and Leptonic Decays, Phys. Rev. Lett. 10 (1963) 531 [INSPIRE].
- [61] M. Kobayashi and T. Maskawa, CP Violation in the Renormalizable Theory of Weak Interaction, Prog. Theor. Phys. 49 (1973) 652 [INSPIRE].
- [62] T. Hermann, M. Misiak and M. Steinhauser, $\overline{B} \to X_s \gamma$ in the Two Higgs Doublet Model up to Next-to-Next-to-Leading Order in QCD, JHEP 11 (2012) 036 [arXiv:1208.2788] [INSPIRE].
- [63] T. Abe, J. Hisano, T. Kitahara and K. Tobioka, Gauge invariant Barr-Zee type contributions to fermionic EDMs in the two-Higgs doublet models, JHEP 01 (2014) 106 [arXiv:1311.4704] [INSPIRE].
- [64] J.F. Gunion, G.L. Kane and J. Wudka, Search Techniques for Charged and Neutral Intermediate Mass Higgs Bosons, Nucl. Phys. B 299 (1988) 231 [INSPIRE].
- [65] S. Raychaudhuri and A. Raychaudhuri, Detection of charged Higgs bosons through the rare decay $H^+ \to W^+\gamma$, Phys. Lett. **B 297** (1992) 159 [INSPIRE].
- [66] A. Arhrib, R. Benbrik and M. Chabab, *Charged Higgs bosons decays* $H^{\pm} \to W^{\pm}(\gamma, Z)$ revisited, J. Phys. **G 34** (2007) 907 [hep-ph/0607182] [INSPIRE].
- [67] J. Hernández-Sánchez, M.A. Pérez, G. Tavares-Velasco and J.J. Toscano, $Decay H^+ \rightarrow W^+ \gamma$ in a nonlinear R_{ξ} -gauge, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 095008 [hep-ph/0402284] [INSPIRE].
- [68] OPAL collaboration, G. Abbiendi et al., Decay mode independent searches for new scalar bosons with the OPAL detector at LEP, Eur. Phys. J. C 27 (2003) 311 [hep-ex/0206022] [INSPIRE].
- [69] ALEPH, DELPHI, L3 and OPAL collaborations and LEP WORKING GROUP FOR HIGGS BOSON SEARCHES, Search for the standard model Higgs boson at LEP, Phys. Lett. B 565 (2003) 61 [hep-ex/0306033] [INSPIRE].
- [70] A.D. Martin, W.J. Stirling, R.S. Thorne and G. Watt, Parton distributions for the LHC, Eur. Phys. J. C 63 (2009) 189 [arXiv:0901.0002] [INSPIRE].
- [71] S. Dawson, S. Dittmaier and M. Spira, Neutral Higgs boson pair production at hadron colliders: QCD corrections, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 115012 [hep-ph/9805244] [INSPIRE].
- [72] A. Djouadi, The Anatomy of electro-weak symmetry breaking. I: The Higgs boson in the standard model, Phys. Rept. 457 (2008) 1 [hep-ph/0503172] [INSPIRE].
- [73] J.F. Gunion and H.E. Haber, The CP conserving two Higgs doublet model: The Approach to the decoupling limit, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 075019 [hep-ph/0207010] [INSPIRE].